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CORPORATE PROFILE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”; stock code: 2319) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Mengniu”) manufacture and distribute quality dairy
products in China. It is one of the leading dairy product manufacturers in China,
with MENGNIU as its core brand. Mengniu’s diversified products include liquid
milk products (such as UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream, milk
formula and other products (such as cheese). As of June 2016, the Group’s annual
production capacity reached 9.11 million tons. In March 2014, Mengniu became a
Hang Seng Index constituent, making it the first blue chip Chinese dairy product

manufacturer.

AN by

FRERFAZARRR(TARA ] BRI : 2319) RE T AR (FHE AKE =%
[REDRFELERHEREIA SR - BEEIZnEES  S4ACKATEE
FERMIRMEER L —  RESTENER - BRREPH(WUHTY - FL0H K
gh) ~ OHEM -~ iR REAER (WHERE) - RZF—RFAA  AEEARGRNE
LERENEIEM - —FT—ME=f  KFERAELERBKOE  KABERT

RIMECLESK -




Corporate Information

NAEER

Highlights

BE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EBEENWR O

Report of the Directors

EEEWE

Independent Review Report

B ERMRE

CONTENTS
B &%

56

59

62

67

Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss

hHERRSRER

Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income
FHEIfSRAASR S EE SR

Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position

SRR S BN R

Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity

HHSRGR SRR BIR

Interim Condensed Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows

THIERGARERER

Notes to Interim Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements

ARG S B SRR MR



CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEER

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. SUN Yiping (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. BAI Ying

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning (Chairman) (resigned on 19 February 2016)
Mr. MA Jianping (Chairman) (appointed on 19 February 2016)
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(appointed on 1 April 2016)
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Mr. LIU Shengli
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Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319

Investor Relations Contact
Ms. SHI Lei

Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, COFCO Tower
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Hong Kong

Email: ir@mengniu.cn

Website: www.mengniuir.com
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Place of Business in Hong Kong
Suites 801-2, 8th Floor, COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

Registered Office

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Principal Share Registrar

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

Legal Advisors
As to Hong Kong Law
Sullivan & Cromwell (Hong Kong) LLP

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder Asia

Principal Bankers
Agricultural Bank of China

BNP Paribas

Industrial Commercial Bank of China
Ping An Bank

Rabobank

Standard Chartered Bank

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Investor Relations Consultant
Strategic Financial Relations (China) Limited
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HIGHLIGHTS
S

Benefiting from active brand promotion and marketing,
revenue increased by 6.6% to RMB27.26 billion. Gross profit
margin was enhanced continuously and increased by 1.8
percentage points year-on-year to 33.7%.

Mengniu constantly strives to optimize its product mix with
the aim of guiding the premium product consumption trend as
well as promoting consumption of nutritious and healthy dairy
products. During the period, Milk Deluxe continued to lead the
high-end market and Mengniu maintained leadership in liquid
milk and chilled dairy product market with the largest market
share.

As the first in China to expand the application of LIMS
(Laboratory Information Management System) and SAP
system, Mengniu has been able to offer intelligent and
systematic information management system throughout its
entire industrial chain. It can track information forward and
backward at all quality control points, allowing it to safeguard
quality at every stage in the industrial chain.

By bringing in advanced international resources and
technologies, Mengniu has continued to strengthen its milk
sources foundation and meet international standards. During
the period, the percentage of Mengniu’s milk sourced from
ranches and scaled farms reached 100%.

As the official dairy product partner of Shanghai Disney Resort,
Mengniu provides premium quality products for visitors to the
resort from all over the world and has created an exclusive
series of special delights for it.

Mengniu strengthened its milk formula business with an
optimized product mix. During the period, Mengniu and
Yashili completed the acquisition of Dumex Baby Food Co.,
Ltd. (“Dumex China”), a specialist in infant milk formula, from
Danone Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEF WK DM

Market Review

With the macro economy facing downward pressure, an oversupply
of milk sources, more stringent regulation on the dairy industry
and increasing competition from imported dairy products, the dairy
industry in China continued to face challenges. However, according
to data from National Bureau of Statistics, the Consumer Price
Index in relation to liquid milk and dairy products had increased
year-on-year for five consecutive months from February to June
2016, indicating a gradual recovery of consumption demand for
dairy products in the country. As per capita income continues to
rise and living standard improves in China, consumers are not only
more conscious of food safety, but also increasingly care about
nutrition and health. Under the new normal of consumers seeking
higher-end products, premiumization of the liquid milk product
structure continues. Room temperature yogurt and chilled yogurt
sales boast a growth rate faster than the industry average and
product sub-categories such as premium UHT milk and room
temperature probiotic lactobacillus drinks have also kept growing.

During the period, the Chinese government continued to tighten
regulation on infant milk formula and commenced thorough
checking on the quality and safety of imported infant milk formula. As
such, low-quality enterprises and production capacities are being
gradually eliminated, which is conducive to consolidation as well
as the long-term healthy development of the industry. In addition,
the positive impact of the full roll-out of the two-child policy on milk
formula demand is expected to surface gradually.

With a surplus supply of raw milk, currently it is difficult for milk
product prices in the country to go up. As certain traditional
product categories slow down in growth, dairy enterprises have
sought to seize market share and drive volume growth through
product innovation and creative marketing. As China steps into
the new digital age, dairy enterprises are working hard at gearing
their thinking with the Internet in mind, tailoring means and
ways more innovative and interactive, more diverse yet direct to
communicate with consumers in more dimensions, allowing them
to better understand how consumers think and refresh consumers’
perception about the quality of dairy products in China.
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Business Review

Seeing both opportunities and challenges in consumers going
for premium products, Mengniu has remained steadfast in its
strive for quality, innovation and win-win with consumers, pushing
on persistently with its two-pronged “internationalization +
digitalization” development strategy aiming for quality innovation
in such core areas as raw milk sourcing, management systems,
accreditation standards and research and development in relation
to nutrition and health. Its ultimate aim is to build an ecosystem
that promises consumers both quality and nutrition. Mengniu has
completed step-by-step a series of internationalization measures
including its shareholder structure, strategies establishment and
system set-up and has built itself into an intelligent dairy enterprise
with the help of Big Data and through digitalized management,
taking its work in areas such as plant construction, internal
management and quality system to new levels.

With consumption demand becoming more diverse and
sophisticated, Mengniu is placing more emphasis on research
and development and product upgrade, and ensuring food safety
by exercising quality control and tracking throughout its entire
industrial chain. Staying true to the mission of “Focus on nutrition
and health, deliver a drop of happiness for every moment and every
day to more people”, Mengniu continued to actively promote the
trend of consuming nutritious and healthy dairy products. During
the period, premium UHT milk, room temperature and chilled
yogurt saw satisfactory sales growth. Milk Deluxe continued to lead
the premium market segment. Just Yoghurt maintained fast growth
and became a main sales growth contributor. Sales of Champion
also continued to grow quickly. Owing to Mengniu’s vigorous effort
to expand sales channels, room temperature liquid milk gained
more market share. As for milk formula business, Yashili was still
in the phase of brand upgrade and channel transformation and
consolidation, the effects of which are expected to manifest in a
gradual manner.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DM

During the period, Mengniu once again made it among the top
20 in the BrandZ™2016 list of the most valuable Chinese brands.
In addition, in the sixth China Brand Power Index (C-BPI) ranking
published by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
of the PRC in 2016, Mengniu was the C-BPI champion in two
categories — liquid milk and yogurt. In particular, its yogurt, which
has won the champion for six consecutive years, was crowned
the “Golden Brand”. Also, Mengniu was named an “Advanced
Enterprise for the Cultivating and Management System of Light
Industry Brands (¥ T G255 BEIRE R LD E)” by the China
National Light Industry Council (1 BI#E T 284 &), and its ice
cream, probiotic lactobacillus drinks and pure milk products also
won the title of “Competitive and Advantageous Products of
Light Industry Brands (8 T Sk B EM)”. In addition, at
the Global Dairy Congress held in the United Kingdom, Hi Milk,
Mengniu’s premium customized milk, garnered the “Best Dairy
Product” and “Best Packaging of Dairy Products” awards under
the World Dairy Innovation Awards. Mengniu was the only Chinese
dairy enterprise that won two major awards at the event, which
evidenced the high recognition of the international market for
Mengniu’s relentless effort to innovate and upgrade its products.

Strategic Cooperation and Integration

—  Chilled product business: Danone S.A. and its subsidiaries
(“Danone Group”)
Danone Group, which owns 9.9% stake in Mengniu, is
Mengniu’s second largest strategic shareholder. Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Danone Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Mengniu Danone”)
is a joint-equity company held 80% by Mengniu and 20% by
Danone Group and has been in full operation since June 2014.

During the period, through applying digital management
system and thus enhancing the integrated management over
sales demand, raw material procurement and production
capacity, Mengniu Danone improved matching of production
and sales. On the cost control front, the Ma’anshan plant
recorded less wastage and has launched an optimization
project for production facility cleansing. The successful
experience in improving efficiency and quality of the plant will
be introduced by Mengniu Danone gradually to the other fresh
milk plants. At the same time, through using PET bottles and
optimizing product formula, Mengniu Danone achieved good
results in terms of cost reduction.
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On staff development, by utilizing the rich training resources
of Danone Group supplemented by the gradual and effective
execution of the well-organized training schedules, Mengniu
Danone has taken care of the needs of every employee and
ensured the fast development of its employees in order to
effectively support the Group in achieving its business targets.

During the period, Yoyi C launched the innovative cross-
segment Live Tea series, a perfect blend of Indian black tea,
Longjing green tea, and probiotics. The Live Tea series was
launched with the complement of a series of online and offline
promotional activities with the Warner Bros movie “Batman
v Superman: Dawn of Justice” which had a strong appeal
to young consumers. Yoyi C has obtained patent for its
proprietary “Temperature self-regulation digital system” which
can help ensure the stability of probiotics in the products.
Champion launched the Red+ yogurt series that features first
in the market yogurts with red super fruit and fragrant flower
flavors, such as pomegranate plus rose and cherry plus rose,
which has won the heart of many female consumers. As for
its basic yogurt products, Mengniu added in January 2016
the new product 200g Nourishing Oat and Red Date Flavor
Yogurt in small bottle. Driven by product innovation, the chilled
product business segment achieved sustainable sales growth
during the period.

Drawing on Danone Group’s advanced international
technologies and capabilities in quality management
and product innovation, as well as Mengniu’s strength in
distribution, Mengniu Danone will continue to lead the national
chilled dairy products market.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Arla Foods

With the support of Arla Foods, Mengniu has kept enhancing
its research and development, production, ranch and quality
management. Its operational capability and level of innovation
have thus been improving and near on par with international
standards. By adopting Arla Garden’s advanced ranch
management system and matching it with actual situations
and management experience of ranches in China, Mengniu
has come up with the Mengniu Garden system that entails
meticulous management of every part of the production
process and the use of international measurements to define
quality milk sources. As of the end of June 2016, Mengniu’s
ranch management standards were more than 65% integrated
with Arla Garden’s, resulting in consistent enhancement of
management level.

During the period, Mengniu had invited more than a dozen
of top experts from Denmark to design a systematic training
program covering four major modules, namely source
management, outcome review, technological management
and financial management for the elites on ranches, and
on-site coaching was given monthly by the experts. The
combined strengths of Arla Foods and Mengniu have enabled
the China-Denmark Milk Technology Cooperation Center to
better apply its edges and serve as a platform that can help
achieve digitalized raw milk sourcing and enhance ranch
management systematically, with alert function and well-
defined mechanisms built in.

Arla Foods is one of the major overseas research and
development partners of Mengniu. It works with Mengniu
in promoting innovation in products and nutrition of room
temperature products, high-end organic milk formula and
differentiated cheese products with the aim of guiding the
higher-end product consumption trend.

Arla Foods
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Milk formula business: Yashili International Holdings Ltd
(“Yashili”; stock code: 1230)

In December 2015, Mengniu and Yashili jointly announced
the acquisition of Dumex China, which specializes in infant
milk formula business, from Danone Group. The acquisition
was completed on 31 May 2016 with Yashili given access
to the sales channels of Dumex China, thus allowing it to
expand its market in first- and second-tier cities, especially in
Eastern China. Through acquiring Dumex China’s advanced
production facilities and subsequent consolidation and
optimization of business, Yashili will be able to enhance its
production network and reduce production cost. Meanwhile,
with the research capabilities of Dumex China and support
from Danone Group, Yashili will gain capabilities in product
development and upgrade.

Apart from the acquisition of Oushi Mengniu (Inner Mongolia)
Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Oushi Mengniu”) and Dumex
China, Yashili has also been active in bringing in products of
the super high-end brand of Arla Foods to boost its product
lines. Arla’s organic Baby & Me products are designed to
appeal to the super high-end milk formula market; Super a -
Golden and Ambery Golden of Yashily, Diamor of Dumex
and the organic Ruipuen of Oushi Mengniu target high-end
consumers; Yashili’'s key product « -Golden, Golden of Scient
and the Beauty series of Oushi Mengniu are mainly for mid-
range to high-end consumer groups; whereas series including
Precinutri of Dumex, Standard of Scient and Oushi of Oushi
Mengniu cater to mid-range consumer groups.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The manufacturing plant of Yashili in New Zealand officially
began operation in November 2015, making Yashili the only
milk formula brand in China that has its own factory in New
Zealand. With access to premium quality milk source and the
support of the factory in New Zealand which upholds stringent
standards, Yashili’'s research and development center has
developed various imported brands and series of infant milk
formula, thus has enriched and strengthened its product lines
for providing strong product support to Yashili for market
expansion and participation in competition. In April 2016,
Yashili's Super o -Golden, a newly developed milk formula
product imported from New Zealand, was launched and sold
not only via various channels in China including maternal
and child platforms and e-commerce avenues, but was also
launched for sale in New Zealand, marking a crucial step in
Mengniu’s “go global” roadmap.

Currently, Yashili is transforming its sales channels. Through
endeavors such as taking resource integration to the depth
and enhancing efficiency of the management team, it aims
to become more responsive to the market. Regarding
e-commerce channels, Yashili achieved satisfactory year-on-
year growth and also managed to transform from a single
sales platform into a multi-dimensional and consumer-oriented
business platform, achieving a deeper channel penetration. In
respect of the maternal and child channel, Yashili promoted
high-end products such as Yashily Super a -Golden and
Arla series with the support of the media, brand promotion
activities and effective management at directly-operated
stores for fast product launch and display, which in turn has
improved sales. In addition, through the sole sponsorship of
“Splendid Chinese Languages (% %/ Bl :%)”, a major TV show
featuring different Chinese dialects, Yashili has increased its
brand influence leveraging the variety show to accentuate its
milk formula of international quality.
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Affected by the generally low price and weak sales of milk
formula and intensifying market competition, Yashili continues
to face immense challenges in 2016. In the second half
year, a series of new policies related to milk formula will be
introduced, which is expected to result in the milk formula
market in China consolidating even further. That, together
with the full implementation of the two-child policy favorable
for the industry, will fuel potential market demand for milk
formula. Yashili will continue to pursue channel transformation
and brand upgrade, shaping up to make sure it can grasp
promising development opportunities.

Plant-based nutrition product business: The WhiteWave
Foods Company (“WhiteWave”)

Mengniu and WhiteWave formed a joint-equity company in
April 2014 with Mengniu holding 51% equity interest and
WhiteWave holding 49%. The company launched walnut and
almond flavor beverages with plant protein in December 2014
and, in May 2016, a series of new products of various flavors
hit the market including the existing two flavors being refined
and a Mellow Soy Milk series. Using WhiteWave's leading
technology in the plant-based nutrition product segment, the
new products agree more with the Chinese palate.

In recent years, the plant-protein beverage industry in China
has developed rapidly. As consumers become increasingly
health and nutrition conscious, plant-protein beverages,
which are deemed nourishing for the body, have huge market
potential in China. The joint-equity company will actively tie
in with the market and channel resources of Mengniu’s core
business and continue to enrich its product lines, building
up its competitive edges in the plant-based nutrition product
segment and giving Mengniu differentiated advantages which
make it stand out in the industry.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Quality Management

Mengniu continued to strictly control the risks end-to-end in the
entire industrial chain and safeguard product quality using “four
carriages mechanism” — the quality and safety management system
and three quality management centers for milk sources, operations
and sales respectively. During the period, Mengniu established
the notion of “perfect products” which it sees as a milestone in
quality management development starting with product design.
As a pioneer in China in expanding the application of LIMS and
SAP system, Mengniu, through achieving synergistic operation of
the two systems, has been able to offer intelligent and systematic
quality assurance throughout the entire industrial chain, from
delivery of raw milk to factories, sourcing of auxiliary materials,
production processes to the point-of-sale. It is able to track
information forward and backward at all quality control points and
allow control of quality at every stage in the industrial chain, thus
setting a new benchmark for the dairy product industry in China.

The quality and safety management system, together with the
food safety management model of Danone Group, continued to
enhance the food safety risk management mechanism for the entire
industrial chain. It has built an innovative digitalized “Real-time Food
Safety and Quality Monitoring and Control Platform” of international
standard, covering fully all ranches, production plants and major
sales areas overseeing at real-time product safety in every stage
of the production process. And, product quality data are uploaded
onto a “Food Safety Cloud” platform, realizing informatization of the
entire industrial chain stretching from the ranches and factories to
the markets and facilitating more transparent communication with
regulatory departments as well as consumers.

To abide by the latest PRC Food Safety Law effective from 1
October 2015, Mengniu has established a food safety matrix which
covers horizontally the entire industrial chain and vertically five major
dimensions, namely structural integrity, standard construction,
process control, assessment improvement and informatization
support, to continuously improve and enhance the extensive
implementation of Total Food Security Quality Management
(“TFSQM”) in the entire industrial chain. Mengniu has also started
constructing a “One-stop Position Management System” for
offering clear, effective and specific guidance on management
of quality, food safety and regulation associated risks for each
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work position thus ensuring food safety and full compliance of its
operations with all regulatory requirements. In addition, Mengniu
cooperated with third-party organizations on food safety monitoring
as well as on research and exploring food safety standards with
nutrition and consumers’ health in mind. In the first half of 2016, 37
national testing organizations had examined relevant milk samples
from Mengniu’s various milk suppliers and the pass rate was
maintained at 100%. To help partners strengthen quality and safety
management, Mengniu has signed in all close to 6,000 food safety
agreements with raw milk suppliers and distributors as a means to
assure product quality and safety.

The milk sources quality management center has six major tasks,
which are “Control of Regional Risk”, “Workshop Management
of Milk Suppliers”, “Assessment of Maturity of Divisions”, “Grain
to Fodder” program, “Enhancement of Health of Dairy Cattles”
and “W-W Virtual Dairy Farming”. All divisions have taken initiative
to satisfy the higher national requirements by increasing sample
inspection frequency and tightening the inspection criteria.
Furthermore, the milk source quality management center has
urged milk suppliers to standardize production and management,
and milk suppliers were supervised to ensure that they adopt and
strictly follow Standard Operation Procedures (“SOP”).

The operation quality management center has quantified the
definition and benchmark of a perfect product, and assessed
products on multiple dimensions including its content, packaging
and consumer experience, the aim of which is to ensure consumers
have an experience that exceeds their expectation. At the same
time, it ensured the different operational stages such as formula
design, packaging design, maintenance of production process
and storage and delivery logistics were under complete control,
helping to boost the core competitiveness of products with quality
guarantee.

The sales quality management center continued to embark on the
construction and management of the chilled chain infrastructure at
point-of-sale end ensuring that relevant management standards are
observed. Mengniu has kept enhancing product traceability that
stretches from when the products leave the factory to when they
arrive at different points-of-sale.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The country’s first ranch food safety standard, which was jointly
developed by Mengniu and AsureQuality, a New Zealand state-
owned enterprise, was being applied. It aided management of ranch
food safety and covered seven areas, namely legal compliance,
management of suppliers, ranch design and management,
management of fodder and water, health and well-being of dairy
cattle, production of raw milk and the environment, and has been
implemented at 119 control points.

Mengniu, in collaboration with a third party company, conducted
food safety audits on the operations of its strategic partners for
potential risks and loopholes at strategic ranches and promptly
suggested rectification measures, with the aim of promoting
concrete implementation of food safety management system by its
strategic partners thus enhance food safety starting at the source.
In the first half of 2016, Mengniu commenced food safety audits
of a total of seven ranches of its three strategic partners — Fuyuan
Farming, China Modern Dairy and Shengmu High-tech. Mengniu
plans to gradually expand the scope of the food safety audit for
strategic ranches and drive the implementation of food safety
standards at those ranches.

Management of Milk Sources

By bringing in advanced international resources and technologies,
as well as employing digitalization and informatization know-how
and other new technologies, Mengniu has continued to strengthen
its milk sources foundation in the aspects of deployment, structure,
quality and technology, in its bid to safeguard the lifeline of the
dairy industry. During the period, the percentage of Mengniu’s milk
sourced from ranches and scaled farms reached 100%.

Taking reference of the hundred-year of advanced experience
of Arla Garden in ranch management and taking into account
local conditions and situations, Mengniu has built an innovative
Mengniu Garden ranch management ecosystem to help speed up
the construction of Mengniu’s modern milk sourcing. Integrating
international ranch management criteria with the Arla Garden
management system and the safety management standard of
AsureQuality from New Zealand, Mengniu continued to strengthen
management and control of suppliers’ ranches. In addition,
Mengniu has enhanced ranch classification and management
standard by introducing informatized and digitalized management
to ensure that Mengniu’s ranches meet standard cattle rearing
requirements. It does so for the purpose of enabling strategic milk
supply partners to obtain certification for passing the most stringent
food safety standards applicable to international ranches.
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Mengniu, for the first time, adopted SOP, an advanced ranch
management standard from Denmark, to fortify the foundation for
establishing standardized ranches and its capability in delicacy
management of technologies at the ranches, in turn enhanced its
competitiveness in the domestic milk source market. Focusing on
the links of the raw milk production chain, Mengniu has formulated
the “Ranch SOP Technology Regulations” with special terms
refined at the leadership of industry experts and technicians and by
integrating actual operational situations in 10 major ranch regions.

In keen response to the government’s “Grain to Fodder” policy,
starting in 2016, Mengniu has pushed ahead at full force its “Grain
to Fodder” project that entails the scientific use of corn silage in
feeding at ranches. The coverage of silage in scaled ranches has
reached 100%.

Mengniu continued to forge ahead with its “W-W Virtual Dairy
Farming Project” to boost cooperation with milk suppliers and the
operation standard of ranches. Adhering diligently to the benchmark
of Arla Garden’s sophisticated ranch evaluation and management
system, Mengniu has invited more than 10 top specialists from
Denmark to help design systematic training programs for nurturing
ranch talent. Participants in the program were provided on-site
guidance and support monthly and the program covered four key
modules, namely source management, outcome review, technology
management and financial management. During the period,
Mengniu started the program at over 500 virtual trial supplier
ranches of various business divisions and the program had helped
the trial ranches improve output per cattle as well as profitability.

With industry leading capability in ranch Big Data management,
Mengniu has been again awarded the “Ranch Service Management
based on Big Data in Dairy Enterprises — Modernized Outcome
Innovation Prize” jointly presented by the China Enterprise
Confederation (CEC), State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (SASAC) and the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (MIIT).
Mengniu made yet another innovative achievement in milk source
management in the industry.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Management System

In 2013, Mengniu adopted the SAP system to boost its
management capabilities in six aspects: precision marketing and in-
depth sales channel management; integrated business and financial
management platform; a responsive synergetic system for supply,
production and sales; integrated quality management and gradually
refined quality tracking; scientific and rational industrial deployment,
and highly effective management of procurement and logistics.

The SAP project has three phases: the first was foundation
implementation, which was completed successfully in March 2015.
Mengniu achieved integration of businesses along the entire supply
chain, integration of financial and operational functions as well as
production, supply and sales functions of the Group, enhancing the
level of standardization and transparency of Mengniu’s business
data. On top of improving the efficiency of internal work-related
undertakings, management and decision-making, the Group now
has boosted strength in data extraction and application.

The second phase involves operational refinements for roll out
between 2015 and 2016. It includes four sub-projects, namely
Business Intelligence (“Bl”), Plant Maintenance (“PM”), Integration
of Business and Finance of Sales Company (“IBFSC”) and Finance
Shared Service Center (“FSSC”).

After over six months of construction, the Bl marketing project
was launched on 1 June 2016. The Group’s decision makers,
management and executives can use the Bl system analysis
platform to access sales data of and decision-making support for
different brands and product categories. They could thus monitor
sales and expenses data timely and strengthen their point-of-sale
management capability, freeing themselves from the traditional
single-facet business analysis mode.

The PM project was officially launched on 30 October 2015 with
pilots kicked off at a total of 15 plants in the four major regions
of Helin, Jiaozuo, Tai’an and Wuhan, involving management of
the life cycle of facilities for production, inspection, research and
development and in central labs, effecting horizontal integration of
asset, financial and material management on the SAP system. With
the pilots bearing fruit and bringing benefits, the PM project shall be
implemented in more factories at opportune time.
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Mengniu is the first dairy enterprise in China to have a FSSC which
runs on a smooth operational model. The pilot of the center went
online in November 2015. With it proven successful, Mengniu
started the second phase of the FSSC project in February 2016.
On the base provided by the innovative SAP-SSF (Share Service
Framework) technology, interconnection of all business and finance
systems is achieved, providing the Group with a solid foundation
for establishing shared service centers for human resources,
information technology and procurement functions. The successfully
implemented FSSC provides full support to financial management
and it will continue to push on to enhance the effectiveness of
procedural improvement, the Group’s management structure,
intensive cost saving, technological integration, innovation and
organizational change and transformation, etc.

Phase three involves coordination work and optimization which will
be carried out between 2016 and 2017.

Branding Strategies

Mengniu has been active in upgrading its strategies in relation
to internationalization, digitalization and staying youthful. It
communicates with consumers on the emotional level on three
platforms — food, sport and entertainment to help it bring to life
the brand concept of “A Little Happiness Matters”. Mengniu is not
only attentive to every detail when it comes to milk quality, but also
cares about consumers’ health and experience and that consumers
are able to feel in every way the warmth the Mengniu brand brings.

Since Mengniu renewed its marketing partnership agreement with
NBA China in March 2015, the two partners have strengthened
cooperation. Mengniu has the right to use the NBA logo on the
packaging of its products and has launched unique milk products
in China with NBA elements incorporated in the package design.
During Spring Festival in 2016, Mengniu and NBA China presented
the “Confession at Basketball Court” campaign, giving basketball
fans the exclusive opportunity to proclaim their admiration for
players at the basketball court during the NBA Regular Season,
marking the beginning of a year of good fortune for basketball fans.
At the same time, Mengniu gave out RMB1 billion worth of red
packets coupon and a jackpot prize of a Royal Caribbean Cruise,
and partnering with Didi Chuxing mounted the Spring Festival
promotion themed “The luckiest year with blessings, get on board
with a click”. These activities had brought consumers closer in
heart with Mengniu as well as boosted the influence of the Mengniu
brand.
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To celebrate the advent of the 2016 Rio Olympics, Mengniu, a
sports and healthy lifestyle trendsetter, is collaborating with Sina
China on a largest of the year running event named “Excel in
Rio, Run China”. The event will last between May and November
comprising more than 100 races nationwide covering around 10
million people. The races have five themes “Blossom, Ocean,
Forest, Morning Light and Lake” that echo with nature for delivering
the “High quality milk is definitely pure” positioning of Mengniu’s
basic pure milk. At the same time, also taking advantage of the
Rio Olympics, Champion has appointed three members of the
Chinese national swimming team — Jiao Liuyang, Wang Shun
and Liu Xiang — as Mengniu Champion Gold Ambassadors in a
series of marketing events themed “Everyone is Champion, Excel
in Rio”. Apart from supporting the national swimming team at the
Rio Olympics, the initiative targets also to highlight Champion as a
“great yogurt that cannot be replicated”, that it is ready to embrace
challenges and strive for excellence. Champion has been tireless in
fortifying its “Tri-Champion Standards” brand proposition, meaning
having high quality probiotics, milk and ingredients in its products,
that the premium brand image of Champion may be planted deep
in the public mind.

The long-awaited Shanghai Disney Resort was officially opened in
June 2016. As its official dairy product partner, Mengniu’s brands
can be found at different strategic spots throughout this fabulous
resort. Visitors from all over the world can enjoy its premium quality
products including milk, yogurt and ice cream, as well as other
special delights that Mengniu has exclusively created for Shanghai
Disney Resort including Mickey’s Ice Cream Classic, Minnie’s
Sweet Treat and Donald’s Duckburg Ice. Adding to the fun, Future
Star has launched a joint marketing program themed “Happy Start
to a Wonderful Journey” with the Resort. Its brand ambassadors
actress Li Xiao Lu and her daughter Jelena Jia were among the
first batch of guests at the Grand Opening and shared this joyous
occasion with other consumers within the resort.

EREPRELESIEE  REE_T—REFE
MEESR  RTBRAFRTEITEFARERK
WA FREN  BBHPE] RAAE
T-AEZEBEANRRERI00SHRTES
BEAOHEATE  WEE 8% HFMH- B
KRB ARBRBIE  BEERBYFTY
BAMINMIEEN - Al > BaAEEREHNRE
g AERF O EIRREA =M E S KEED
BERRFEnASEREA  BB—RIN2R

EE AFHEHNINEELHEBEEY  BHHE
FOM K L BRE - BZEEBRNKE - ERE

HIEAERNTRD INTE R - 2 0ITEHF
B9 HRMI=ZEREIREIR 8%
AmBEEELERRAAL e

FRETREERENR-_Z-—RESAEAHFE -
SHEREREBNETIMEGIERH - BRI
EEBRREAN-RINEFARAMBEEE - £
KEHERSWHETREIRTEmENTY
B KEME - RAFTER EBBLIRERR
BT T 3K BT AS K EOM - SKIE B Lnk S
HLEREFIT K EEEHER - R AXE
BT LBatRERRRRUAISYIRIE - REH
BIRTENBATIHEH REAXERFTAF
PREELMHE  RRLBBtREERREARN
BRERHEAESR BRZHEEERARAZE LS
BrEERERRL -




TRERFAXERAA

During the period, Mengniu integrated lactobacillus with tea drinks
to come up with the Yoyi C Live Tea, a series of innovative cross-
segment new products that surprised and shook the industry,
claiming for itself a share of the blue ocean in the lactobacillus
drinks market. Yoyi C and the Warner Bros movie “Batman v
Superman: Dawn of Justice” mounted joint promotion, which
sparked discussions about collaboration between movies and
businesses. The promotion tied in the vitality of heroes with Live
Tea products, with the aid of an exclusive TV commercial featuring
the movie and also mainstream online media, such as Tencent,
iQiyi and NetEase highlighting the brand concepts “The Arrival of
Heroes, Live With New Tea” and “Tea Becomes Alive” for Yoyi C,
all efforts to enhance emotional interaction between the brand and
young customers.

To boost the entertainment gene in the brand, Mengniu cooperated
with another movie partner in the Hollywood production
“Independence Day: Resurgence”. The high quality and technology
content of Mengniu products matched perfectly with the sci-fi
elements of the movie and Mengniu was able to embed “Mengniu
Moon Milk” and its auto-vending machine in the movie to impress
consumers. In addition, Mengniu also worked with the Hollywood
movie crew to produce a TV commercial — the side story of
“Independence Day: Resurgence”. It also offered at Tmall an
exclusive limited edition product with the movie as the packaging
theme on the very day when the movie was released. Through
online and offline promotions, Mengniu presented a youthful image
of itself and boosted the value of the brand.

Mengniu in association with its “Star Partner”, the singer group Yu
Quan, launched the first high-quality “Internet milk” (sold exclusively
online) — Hi Milk. Boasting supremacy in packaging design in
terms of structure, IP and details, the product garnered an array of
international honors in 2016, including the “Design Award 2016”
at “IF Product Design Award” dubbed the Oscar in the product
design field. That was the first time a Chinese dairy brand won
the honor. Hi Milk also snatched two other major awards — “Best
Dairy Product” and “Best Packaging of Dairy Products” — at the
World Dairy Innovation Awards, which represent the prominent
international recognition Mengniu enjoys for its innovative product
design.
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Just Yoghurt again worked with Hunan TV, leveraging the second
season of the prime-time variety show “Run for Time (& B IlzRA)”,
planting brand elements in the setting of the program for creating
brand influence in folds on viewers. By sparking hot discussions
on WeChat and Sina Weibo and interacting with consumers, it
resonated with consumers on the brand concept of “No additives,
pure and delicious taste”. Just Yoghurt also had its brand aura
instilled into the movie “Mermaid”, and that won for it the “Best
Video Content Marketing Case — Silver Award” at the “China
Content Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold Award” in June 2016.

Upholding the principle of constant innovation, Milk Deluxe and
Letv together launched a brand new corporate social responsibility
marketing model — producing the grand ethnic musical “Rebirth of
National Music (X 5B £%)” to be staged in 10 cities in the country
during the year. Using a communication matrix comprising quality
online and offline resources and through recruiting experts in
Chinese music, it promoted the artistic charms of Chinese music
and culture to the people. The association with traditional Chinese
music has enabled Mengniu to enrich the content of the Milk Deluxe
brand, giving it unique artistic value. In complement, three new “3.6g
lactoprotein and 120mg original calcium” products in limited edition
packaging designs featuring the three Chinese musical instruments
— erhu, ruan and pipa were launched for not only to nurture the
body but also the mind of consumers, as well as enhance the
brand’s high-end image and exclusivity. Milk Deluxe’s “New Height
of Nutrition” product promotion during the New Year won the “Best
Integrated Social Marketing Case — Gold Award” at the “China
Content Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold Award”.

Internationalization and digitization will give Mengniu the drive to use
diverse marketing means to continue to interact and communicate
in depth with consumers, passing on to consumers its embrace
of the mission of “Focus on nutrition and health, deliver a drop of
happiness for every moment and every day to more people”.
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Sales Channels

Mengniu continued to strengthen its sales channels with key focus
on “vertical flattening, horizontal integration, function optimization
and enhancement in various sales regions” and by accelerating
implementation of the Route to Market (“RTM”) project, building real
regional platforms and regional management centers. By increasing
the number of business representatives of Mengniu and distributors
to directly serve points of retail sales, the Group has strengthened
its sales operation model with distributors at the core and also the
direct control system of the distributors. At the same time, it also
increased the proportion of direct sales of sales companies and the
Central Business Units (“CBU”) to realize delicacy management of
sales channels across the board.

The Wei Sales Platform (“WSP”) project adopts a closed-loop
management system from objective setting to sales execution. By
providing sales personnel with point-of-sale supportive information
management tools, it can conduct standardized sales visit, set
parameters for management of employee attendance and guide
target management, thus realizing standardized management and
unified data feedback. WSP has the capability of monitoring point-
of-sale information in real time, helpful for refining point-of-sale
management. The Group began promoting the WSP project to
sales companies and the CBUs in the first half of 2016.

Mengniu has optimized its Key Account (“KA”) management
structure by enhancing the exchange and communication among
the three-tier organizational structure — the headquarters-based
client team, regional team and the distributor KA team. It has
formed a strategic alliance with retailers by which limited resources
would be allocated to key markets and product categories.
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Mengniu used the Internet to build three-dimensional marketing
channels and connect seamlessly with its marketing arm, directing
brand resources onto the e-commerce platform for expanding
e-commerce sales channels thus boost its marketing clout and
brand power online. Currently, its products are sold on all major
e-commerce platforms in China such as Tmall, JD, Yhd.com,
Suning and Womai.com. During the period, Mengniu signed
strategic cooperation agreements with Tmall and JD to take its
quality e-commerce business deployment to the depth. Through
cooperating with Tmall on data utilization and reallocation of
resources, Mengniu was able to enhance its exposure in the
Alibaba channel. In 2016, at the “618 Quality Carnival” in JD,
Mengniu made record sales of more than RMB10 million, placing
first among dairy enterprises and second in the food category on
that platform. While working on modern channels, Mengniu also
exerted in developing markets in third- and fourth-tier cities and has
managed breakthroughs in growing traditional channels.

Mengniu has achieved substantial development in terms of sales
in overseas markets. Its products are sold in Hong Kong, Macau,
Mongolia and Singapore, and have also made it into Myanmar
during the period, giving it an expanded overseas business
footprint. In its product portfolio are room temperature products
which include pure milk, low-fat high calcium milk, Milk Deluxe, Fruit
Milk Drink, Just Yoghurt; chilled products which mainly include Yoyi
C and ice cream products which cover Deluxe, Suibian and Mood
for Green, etc. Mengniu takes reference of the characteristics of
different markets when it tailors regional and diverse promotions.
Such efforts enabled it to achieve good sales performance in Hong
Kong, Macau and overseas markets during the period.
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Financial Review

Revenue

Benefiting from active brand promotion and marketing, the Group’s
revenue for the six months ended 30 June 2016 was RMB27,257.2
million (2015: RMB25,564.4 million), representing an increase of
6.6% on a year-on-year basis. Excluding Yashili, the revenue of the
Group rose by 7.0% to RMB26,104.7 million (2015: RMB24,402.9
million). The products with a greater contribution to revenue growth
were Milk Deluxe, Just Yoghurt and Mengniu Pure Milk.

Gross Profit

Raw milk prices were further lowered and the product mix was
constantly optimized. As a result, the gross profit of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2016 increased to RMB9,181.4
million (2015: RMB8,142.8 million), while gross profit margin
increased by 1.8 percentage points to 33.7% as compared with the
same period last year. Excluding Yashili, the Group’s gross profit
was RMB8,589.6 million (2015: RMB7,573.3 million), while gross
profit margin increased by 1.9 percentage points year-on-year to
32.9%.

Operating Expenses

As the Group adopted proactive channel expansion strategies and
invested more heavily on branding during the period, operating
expenses increased to RMB7,803.6 million (2015: RMB6,841.8
million), representing approximately 28.6% (2015: 26.8%) of
the Group’s revenue. Excluding Yashili, the Group’s operating
expenses were RMB7,052.6 million (2015: RMB6,223.1 million),
representing 27.0% of the revenue excluding the contribution of
Yashili (2015: 25.5%).

Selling and distribution expenses for the period increased by
15.9% to RMB6,448.9 million (2015: RMB5,565.3 million), and
their percentage of the Group’s revenue increased 1.9 percentage
points to 23.7% (2015: 21.8%). Excluding Yashili, the selling and
distribution expenses of the Group were RMB5,949.5 million (2015:
RMB5,041.7 million), representing 22.8% of the revenue excluding
the contribution of Yashili (2015: 20.7%).
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The advertising and promotion expenses for the period increased
by 23.4% to RMB2,825.7 million (2015: RMB2,290.2 million), and
their percentage of the Group’s revenue increased to 10.4% (2015:
9.0%). Excluding Yashili, the Group’s advertising and promotion
expenses increased by 26.7% to RMB2,647.2 million (2015:
RMB2,089.0 million), representing 10.1% of the revenue excluding
Yashili’s contribution (2015: 8.6%), increasing by 1.5 percentage
points year-on-year.

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by 6.1%
to RMB1,354.7 million (2015: RMB1,276.5 million), and their
percentage to the Group’s revenue amounted to 5.0% (2015: 5.0%).
Excluding Yashili, the Group’s administrative and other operating
expenses was RMB1,1038.0 million (2015: RMB1,181.4 million),
representing 4.2% of the revenue excluding Yashili’'s contribution
(2015: 4.8%), a decrease of 0.6 percentage point year-on-year.

Profit from Operating Activities and Net Profit

As the profit attributable to associates for the current year
decreased significantly to loss of RMB154.6 million from profit
amounting to RMB143.3 million for the corresponding period of last
year, and Yashili recorded a decrease in profit, the EBITDA of the
Group has decreased by 6.9%, reaching RMB2,155.1 million (2015:
RMB2,315.6 million), and EBITDA margin decreased to 7.9% (2015:
9.1%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
19.5% year-on-year, amounting to RMB1,077.3 million (2015:
RMB1,338.7 million). Basic earnings per share was RMBO0.277
(2015: RMBO0.344), representing a year-on-year decrease of 19.5%.
Excluding Yashili, profit attributable to owners of the Company was
RMB1,087.7 million (2015: RMB1,296.9 million), representing a
decrease of 16.1% year-on-year.
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Income Tax Expenses

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the effective income tax
rate of the Group was 20.9% (2015: 18.3%), increasing by 2.6
percentage points year-on-year. Excluding Yashili, the effective
income tax rate of the Group was 22.1% (2015: 18.5%), increasing
by 3.6 percentage points year-on-year. A major associate’s
contribution to the Group for the period has changed to loss from
profit recorded in the same period last year, resulting in an increase
in effective income tax rate of the Group during the period.

Capital Expenditure

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, the capital expenditure
(“CAPEX”) of the Group was RMB2,706.5 million (2015:
RMB1,439.6 million), which represents a year-on-year increase of
88.0% and included an expenditure of RMB987.6 million on the
acquisition of the entire equity interest of Dumex China by Yashili.
The CAPEX consisted of expenses that were spent on building new
and modifying existing production facilities and related investment
amounting to RMB1,482.9 million, purchasing biological assets
amounting to RMB87.6 million and addition in equity investment
including Dumex China amounting to RMB1,136.0 million.
Excluding Yashili, the CAPEX of the Group was RMB1,667.3 million
(2015: RMB1,237.8 million).

Working Capital, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

The Group’s net cash inflow from operating activities for the six
months ended 30 June 2016 increased to RMB2,675.3 million
(2015: RMB2,107.3 million), primarily due to the significant
decrease in inventory for raw materials.

For the six months ended 30 June 2016, outstanding bank loans
and bonds of the Group decreased to RMB10,172.4 million (31
December 2015: RMB11,050.3 million), of which bank loans
amounted to RMB6,403.9 million (31 December 2015: RMB6,080.8
million) were repayable within one year. Furthermore, most of the
bank loans and bonds were fixed interest-bearing loans. Excluding
Yashili, the outstanding bank loans and bonds of the Group were
RMB9,485.2 million (31 December 2015: RMB10,388.6 million).
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Net borrowings (total amount of bank loans and bonds net
of cash and bank balances) of the Group as at 30 June 2016
were RMB4,965.5 million (31 December 2015: RMB3,119.0
million). Excluding Yashili, the net borrowings of the Group were
RMB6,038.9 million (2015: RMB4,938.7 million).

The Group’s total equity as of 30 June 2016 was RMB26,781.3
million (31 December 2015: RMB26,615.2 million). The debt-to-
equity ratio (total amount of bank loans and bonds over total equity)
was 38.0% (31 December 2015: 41.5%).

Finance costs of the Group were RMB151.5 million (2015:
RMB134.6 million), accounting for about 0.6% of the revenue
(2015: 0.5%). Excluding Yashili, the finance costs of the Group
were RMB145.3 million (2015: RMB132.2 million), accounting for
0.6% of the revenue excluding that of Yashili (2015: 0.5%), which
represents a year-on-year increase of 0.1 percentage point.

Share Repurchase

The Group has confidence in its long term development.
To enhance its shareholder base and value, the Group has
repurchased a total of 6,116,000 ordinary shares of the Company
at a total consideration of RMB58.1 million, in six batches at an
average price of HK$11.09 per ordinary share on the open market
during the period.

Products

By integrating the strategic resources it has from around the world
and using Big Data analysis, Mengniu is able to accurately gauge
the needs of consumers and innovate in various areas such as
product category, flavor, packaging, delivery channel and brand
experience, etc. to build a consumer-oriented product platform.
Empowered by its online and offline channels and through mounting
innovative branding activities and using the social media, it has
enhanced two-way communication and interaction with consumers,
presenting consumers with more refined brand experience and
boosting their loyalty to the Mengniu brand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWR D

Production

Mengniu deploys its production capacity according to market
demands and its own product strategy. As of 30 June 2016,
Mengniu had 33 production bases in China and one in New
Zealand, which together afford a total production capacity of 9.11
million tons (December 2015: 8.68 million tons).

Corporate Social Responsibility

To Mengniu, corporate social responsibility is the passing on of
love and blessing and an integral part of its corporate strategies
and daily operation and management. The aim of which is to drive
the development of corporate social responsibility in its entire
industrial chain. The sustainable ecosystem built by Mengniu
features four areas of responsibility, namely nutrition and health,
growth and all-win, green development and public well-being. The
Group is committed to protecting consumers’ health, promoting
growth of employees and partners, environmental protection and
development, and maintaining social harmony. Its aim is to use its
strengths to bring happiness to society.

The rural education program “Have a Lecture in My Hometown”
on Mengniu’s “Most Beautiful to Have You” charity platform, is
a holistic charitable rural education system with “companion” as
the central theme and entails lectures given by leading lights,
support from partners in the ecosystem, tutoring and mentoring
by university students and public participation. Since 2012,
Mengniu has had 108 partners in the ecosystem participating in
the program and 92 luminaries, including the Chinese Princess
of Ballet Hou Honglan, Olympic diving champion Lao Lishi and
renowned singer Chen Chusheng, who gave interesting lectures
on music, sports, television and movie to children from over 600
schools in impoverished areas in 22 provinces. During the period,
Olympic gymnastics champion Yang Wei, the 91th luminary joining
the campaign, returned to his hometown Xiantao, Hubei, which is
known as the “hometown of gymnastics in Asia”, gave the children
from Hujiaguai Elementary School (] #5/\&) in Maozuizhen,
Xiantao city a splendid lesson on culture and sports, and Olympic
butterfly stroke swimming champion Jiao Liuyang taught the basic
moves of butterfly stroke, breaststroke and freestyle swimming
to children at Youling Lao Pai of the Liannan Yao Autonomous
County in Guangdong province. The activity gave children in those
underprivileged areas the opportunity to receive education and also
helped draw attention of society to the children.
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Showing its support for the Rio Olympics, a team of volunteers
of Mengniu’s Just Yoghurt, together with Olympic champion Lao
Lishi, went to Hainan Danzhou Siyuan Experimental School prior to
Rio’s opening ceremony where they gave out nearly 37,000 packs
of Just Yoghurt to the children there to encourage them to hold
on to their dreams and study hard. Mengniu’s Olympics-inspired
volunteer campaign is in full swing and in the second half year
children in rural villages will be able to learn from and interact with
Olympic champions such as Zhao Ruirui and Yang Wei.

During the period, Mengniu continued to put its weight behind
the “Red-ribbon Health Ambassador Campaign on Campuses
Advocating a Beautiful Youth”, contributing to the cause of
AIDS prevention among university students. Activities including
“Scanning Barcode for Milk” and lighting up the WeChat Avatar
were organized to enhance student involvement and care about the
subject, as well as their awareness about AIDS prevention.

In May 2016, Mengniu announced that it would cooperate in the
next five years with QQ Alert, Greatview Aseptic Packaging and
SmarTone on helping families find missing loved ones by posting
information of the missing on the milk carton box of Future Star and
XinYangDao, which will also be a means to publicize knowledge
of preventing abduction of children. The campaign, which
encompasses both online and offline efforts to find missing persons
and combat abduction, hopes to appeal to the public for help to
bring lost children back to their home.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Mengniu takes nurturing talent very seriously. It enhances the
know-how of ranchers and staff at different levels through programs
including “University of Ranchers”, “Golden Key of Milk Cow” and
“Talented Ranchers”. During the period, “University of Ranchers”
ran 10 sessions of theoretical and practical courses of different
levels at 12 practicing bases and close to 1,000 ranch technicians
received theoretical training. To ensure personnel are geared from
the supervision and management mode to the technical service
mode, the program provided on-site practical coaching on rearing,
veterinary medicine, breeding and management of facilities and
to date 87 participants had finished on-site practice. The “Golden
Key of Milk Cow” program had more than 40 system experts
and experts from Denmark to give four technical demonstration
and training sessions for over 600 middle-level management
personnel from ranches in Beijing, Tianjin, Inner Mongolia, Henan
and Hebei, etc. In addition, in April 2016, Mengniu and the China
Agricultural University co-organized a third round of advanced
training that covered 10 specialized courses on subjects such as
industry environment, development of the dairy industry and ranch
management. The courses were attended by around a hundred
ranchers in China, enabling them to enhance competitiveness. The
“Talented Ranchers” program gathered together a school of 54
domestic and overseas lecturers to provide 12 training sessions
covering 24 basic professional courses to around 1,100 general
level ranch employees via satellite. Two sessions of compulsory
courses, which cover 128 dairy industry related topics and include
training on practical ranch management skills and advanced
industry technologies have begun.

In terms of innovation in packaging, Mengniu has replaced
the plastic handles of package boxes with ones made of
environmentally-friendly non-woven fabric, while also continuing
to push forward with replacing plastic with paper so as to reduce
damage to the environment. The new handles are used for
products in Tetra Fino Aseptic packaging and PrePack packaging.
Mengniu also uses renewable paper packaging that is 100%
recyclable and reusable and Tetra Pak, Combibloc and Greatview
Aseptic Packaging are among its selected suppliers. In addition,
Mengniu has incorporated the concept of energy conservation into
the various production stages at its factories, and it also regularly
upgrades relevant equipment and technologies to achieve higher
energy efficiency.
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In 2016, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mengniu’s Chief Executive Officer and
the “Have a Lecture in My Hometown” program of the Group were
awarded the “Public Welfare Development Award of Enterprise
Asia” and “Socially Responsible Leader Award of Enterprise Asia”
respectively by Enterprise Asia. And, Mengniu itself received the
“Best Mobile Integrated Marketing Case Silver Award” at the
China Online Marketing Awards Ceremony Gold Award and the
“First Batch of Loving Enterprises in the National Children Food
Safety Protection Movement” award jointly presented by the China
Children and Teenagers’ Fund, China Nutrition and Health Food
Association, China Children Center and Peopleyuging.com for its
“Warm a glass of milk, warm their little hands” program.

Human Resources

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had a total of about 40,047
employees in China and Hong Kong, including the around
3,367 employees of Yashili. During the period, total staff costs
(including salaries of directors and senior executives) amounted to
approximately RMB2,113.9 million (2015: RMB1,871.5 million).

Mengniu based its remuneration policy on a number of
considerations including its corporate values, the work position and
relevant performance, market conditions and an individual’s ability.
Its remuneration system includes five incentive schemes, namely
incentive for personal performance, group benefit sharing, group
over-turnover, and group appraisal as well as the restricted shares
award incentive scheme. These schemes, which tie closely together
the performance of the Group and that of staff, have helped to
effectively motivate staff members to achieve the key performance
indicators for relevant strategic objectives of the Group, making
development of the Group together with its staff a reality. At the
same time, to retain and reward its key management personnel and
employees with great potential therefore drive the achievement of
its strategic objectives, Mengniu has launched a retention plan for
key management personnel, under which a selected employee will
be awarded restricted shares twice.

Mengniu adopts innovative personnel management concepts in
the regular team and individual appraisals it conducts in specific
departments. This has enabled the Group to review and plan
future organization structure, identify and nurture talent with great
potential as well as lay down succession plans for key positions,
thus helping to protect the Group’s structure and give it the talent
required for achieving its strategic objectives and driving sustainable
growth of the company in the future.
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Prospects

With the macro economy still sluggish, raw milk in surplus supply,
pressure from online competitions and the government pushing
ahead more stringent food safety regulations, the dairy industry
is facing severe challenges. At the same time, with the two-child
policy in full rollout, per capita income rising and urbanization
continuing in China, demand for milk products in the country will
gradually recover. Mengniu will focus on its star products, pushing
for innovation in product categories and structure optimization to
enhance consumer confidence in domestic dairy products with
high qualities. It will continue to reinforce its leadership in liquid milk
products, in particular, the chilled product market segment, and
strengthen the milk formula business platform of Yashili, while also
seeking to seize opportunities for cooperation and consolidation
with international dairy enterprises, the goal of which is to lead the
upgrade of the dairy industry in China.

Looking ahead, guided by the two-pronged strategy of
“internationalization + digitalization”, Mengniu will be devoted to
achieving development through quality innovation and fortifying the
cooperative relationship it has with advanced international and local
peer partners as well as partners outside the industry. Armed with
international and advanced research and development technology
and management systems, it shall work together with its partners
in research and development of innovative new products more
in line with international benchmarks and construct a sustainable
“Mengniu win-win ecosystem”. Being innovative is what motivates
Mengniu to continue to develop. Mengniu will continue to embrace
the “Internet+” idea, cooperate with modern Internet enterprises
in innovative and interactive ways and develop new business
platforms. It will push to realize digitalization from management to
operation, sales, consumer experience and servicing and set up
an intelligent Big Data platform to help enhance sales growth. With
consumers at heart, Mengniu will build three wellness platforms
with sport, food and entertainment as respective emphasis. It will
communicate with consumers using trendy, dynamic and youthful
means and interact with them on all possible fronts, transparently
and openly. These efforts will allow it to understand precisely
consumers’ interests so that it may offer more valuable service and
also give consumers healthy, diverse and joyful experiences with its
products.
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With an international perspective, Mengniu has established its
digitalized management system, quality monitoring and tracing
system for its entire industrial chain. With these systems and the
backing of digital technologies, it is able to provide consumers with
digitalized and systematic quality assurance. Mengniu’s digitalized
“Real-time Food Safety and Quality Monitoring and Control
Platform” serves its ranches, factories and key sales areas, helping
to safeguard the safety of all Mengniu products.

Mengniu will firmly uphold its “consumer-oriented” core value, and
lay out around its plans for digitization, to fully exploit the Internet
and adopt intelligent technologies in areas from product research
and development to system management and operation mode. Its
aim is to create high quality dairy products with “Ingenuity, Care,
Reliability” thereby help the dairy industry in China rebuild its image,
as well as raise the value of the Mengniu brand. The Group will
strive to transform into a new-era dairy enterprise with its eyes set
on tapping the power of the Internet and be capable of providing
consumers with nutritious and healthy products that match
international standards.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWWR D

SHETABERRT BB CEERR  1TEE
EXEFEOMEEEMENRE  REEER
HEFE  ZHRIENRERE - A - HFEH
[RmZEEEERERETYR |BERTHS &
ETBMEERR  2AARTERZEEM

ST BEERFEUEBEE /T LINZLEE -
HEMNE  RGERALHEAEFE @ @ &
F— R B WAL - BEEMERMGR
RIEL e B o O IKEERE I m - HEP
BAXTENES  BHXRTmEBETE &
BERNSEEERMBEENTRRIDL  RHEE
ERHERREONESRER® °




» China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2016

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company has the pleasure in submitting the interim report together
with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the six months
ended 30 June 2016 (the “Interim Financial Statements”).

Interim Dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of an interim
dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2016 (six months ended
30 June 2015: nil) and propose that the profit for the six months
ended 30 June 2016 be retained.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

As at 30 June 2016, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) (the “Associated Corporation”) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company or any of the RAATSKEFAEEHEER D 2118 (TEEE
Associated Corporations (not including options granted under the  IBEZARA TIEBARETE11% T HIBEILRE) ¢
Company’s share option scheme):

Percentage of
the Company’s/

Associated
Corporation’s
Issued
Company/Name of Total Number of Share Capital
Name of Director Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares AN T FREEE
Y AT EEEEERE RERMtE LTERAYH CEBRTREANEIHL
Sun Yiping The Company Personal Interest 13,793,204(L) ™ 0.35%®
RIFE RNAF] 1B A=
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 4,937,277(L)@ 0.13%®
Sk PN B A e
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Personal Interest 336,151(L) 0.02%

Dairy (Group) Company 1B A=
Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Mengniu”)

AERERFIAE(EE) RS
BERAR(TARRF])

Notes: BiaE -

(1) It represents shares granted to Ms. Sun Yiping under the restricted (1) ZH B BIRBEE S SIRMH AR AR I AR 2R

share award scheme and the key management retention plan of the TEREREMEIRAEARE TRFAE L TR
Company adopted by the Board. E

2) It included shares granted to Mr. Bai Ying under the restricted  (2) % B BIEBEIEAL ARG TSR 20 8 KBS
share award scheme and the key management retention plan of the B TREARNBARTEREENRE -
Company during the period.

(38)  The calculation is based on the number of shares as a percentage of ~ (3) REBRHBRMEAATANR_ZF—R"FRA=THE
the total number of issued shares of the Company (i.e. 3,919,476,402 EITRRD 48 803,010,476,4020k 2 B D LLETE B H -
shares) as at 30 June 2016.

Indicates a long position. L) REREE -
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Certain Directors have been granted options under the Company’s
share option scheme and shares under share award scheme of the
Company respectively, details of which are set out in the sections
headed “Share Option Scheme” and “Share Award Scheme”,
respectively below.

Saved as disclosed above and as set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below, as at 30 June 2016, none of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of the Associated Corporations as recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 30 June 2016, the interests or short positions of substantial
shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company whose interests and short positions in the shares of the
Company and of the Associated Corporations are set out above,
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be maintained under Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:

ETEEDRREBEARR 2 BRI B EREK
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EIBOIEREFEZERMALE - T2RR(R
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Percentage of
the Company’s

Issued

Number of Share Capital®
Ordinary Shares EARATE BT

Name of Substantial Shareholder FEREHZE TEREE BAREDLEE®
COFCO Corporation FREEEERAF 1,234,500,758(L) ™ 31.50%
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited FREE(HE)BRAR 1,233,700,758(L) @ 31.48%
China Foods (Holdings) Limited FERGUER)ERAF 1,233,700,758(L) ® 31.48%
Farwill Limited HIRBRAF] 1,2383,700,758(L) @ 31.48%
Colour Spring Limited FRBRAT 1,233,700,758(L) @ 31.48%
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited i FLE LR BER AR 1,233,700,758(L) @4 31.48%
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited R EREBR A A 1,233,700,758(L) @© 31.48%
Prominent Achiever Limited BEBRAR 1,233,700,758(L) @© 31.48%
Arla Foods amba Arla Foods amba 1,233,700,758(L) @ 31.48%
Danone SA Danone SA 1,233,700,758(L) ©® 31.48%
Danone Asia Pte Ltd EgemMERAA 1,233,700,758(L) @ 31.48%
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Commonwealth Bank of Australia 550,232,000(L) 14.04%
JPMorgan Chase & Co. JPMorgan Chase & Co. 273,625,440(L) 6.98%
3,030,985(S) 0.08%
245,806,088(P) 6.27%
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Notes:

M

COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of
1,234,500,758 shares in the Company, comprising (a) 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(Hong Kong) Limited and (b) 800,000 shares in the Company through
another of its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO
(BVI) Limited is deemed interested in 800,000 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, Colour Spring Limited,
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, COFCO Dairy Investments Limited,
Prominent Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba, Danone Asia Pte Ltd
are deemed interested in an aggregate of 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company under section 317 of the SFO.

China Foods (Holdings) Limited (previously known as COFCO (BVI)
No. 108 Limited) is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill Limited.
COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758
shares in the Company through its subsidiary, COFCO Dairy
Investments Limited.

COFCO Dairy Investments Limited is deemed interested in
296,028,044 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned

subsidiary, Prominent Achiever Limited.

Danone SA is deemed interested in 1,233,700,758 shares in the
Company through its subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 30 June 2016 was
3,919,476,402.

Indicates a long position.
Indicates a short position.

Indicates a lending pool.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2016, no other interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register maintained under Section
336 of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2005 Share
Option Scheme”) on 28 June 2005 for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. The 2005 Share Option
Scheme has expired on 27 June 2015. The following share options
are granted under the 2005 Share Option Scheme and are valid
and exercisable during the period:

BT
ARBR-ETRFANA T NBARB—EER
st 8l ([ — T2 AFBREE ) BURHEAR
SEEBRNEERM A ERSEE(FLE R
RE - _ZTTHFBEREAZIER_FT—AFAX
A-t+tBEm- - B RE-_FTAFERE
FHEIR T BB R AT AT

Number of share options
BREYA
As at As at Exercise period of
Name or 1January  Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled 30 June Date of share options Exercise
category of 2016 during during during during 2016 grant of (both dates inclusive) price of
participant R=E-~E theperiod theperiod theperiod theperiod R=ZF—~E shareoptions BRETEDRH share options
SEERELER -B-A  HARYE  BRaE BRXM BRESE AASTR RUBERERE  (BREERR) BREGTEE
HKS$
B
Executive Director
#irEs
Bai Ying 4,163,548 - - (3,200,000) - 963,548 10.10.2011 10.10.2015 0 9.10.20181" 12.06
HE 5% ZE-RETATAZ
TA+H 2 \EtAAAEY
Employees in Aggregate 37,036,134 - (1,614,952) (28,500,000) - 6,921,182 10.10.2011 10.10.2015 t0 9.10.20181 12.05
EE&H —F——% ZE-RETATAZ
TA+H ZE-NETARAN
41,199,682 - (1,614,952) (31,700,000) - 7,884,730
Notes: FffEE -

(1) The share options will be vested in two equal batches with 50% of the
share options granted vesting on the fourth and fifth anniversaries of
the date of the grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested
if and when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division
of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these
targets are met, the share options will lapse.

(2) The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised
was HK$12.57.

(1) BEEESBMENEE - 50%HHE RS BIN R
HERFEMEAEREFRE - 1) - WEERARE
CABRAMBERPIRARAZRERRAE - A
ERBRELERE - MR ER LRA2HMERE
A5 RERB AR SR 2K

(2 ARERRG N EEERETE B HAT 2 T
MEBAE12.57H8TT °
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On 3 June 2016, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2016 Share
Option Scheme”) in order to enable the Group to continue to offer
valuable incentive to attract and retain quality personnel to work to
increase the value of the shares of the Company. The 2016 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 3 June 2016 and will expire on 2 June 2026.

During the six months ended 30 June 2016, no share option was
granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the reporting period
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company or their respective associates to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief
executive (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) during the six months ended 30 June 2016, held any interest
in, or were granted any right to subscribe for, the securities of the
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of the
SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

Share Award Scheme

1) Restricted Share Award Scheme
The Company operates a restricted share award scheme (the
“Restricted Share Award Scheme”) to motivate the employees
to maximize the value of and share the results with the
Company in order to achieve sustainable development of the
Group.

As at 30 June 2016, the aggregate number of restricted
shares of the Company granted to selected participants was
32,349,400 (before bonus issue), of which 8,425,800 (before
bonus issue) restricted shares were granted to Ms. Sun
Yiping, the Chief Executive Officer and executive Director, and
2,229,500 (before bonus issue) restricted shares were granted
to Mr. Bai Ying, the executive Director. For further details of
the grant of restricted shares, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 29 April 2013, 22 April 2014, 19
September 2014, 8 April 2015 and 30 September 2015.
Further details of the restricted share award scheme are also
set out in note 27 to the Interim Financial Statements.
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2) Key Management Retention Plan

The Company adopted the key management retention plan
(the “Retention Plan”) to retain and reward the Group’s key
management personnel and employees with great potential
and to drive the achievement of strategic objectives of the
Company. According to the Retention Plan, the Company will
contribute a maximum of RMB150 million for the execution of
the Retention Plan.

As at 30 June 2016, the aggregate number of shares of
the Company granted to selected participants under the
Retention Plan was 14,492,753, of which 1,555,072 shares
were granted to Ms. Sun Yiping, the Chief Executive Officer
and executive Director, and 466,521 shares were granted to
Mr. Bai Ying, the executive Director. For further details of the
Retention Plan, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 11 April 2016. Further details of the Retention Plan are
also set out in Note 27 to the Interim Financial Statements.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s businesses are principally located in Mainland
China and substantially all transactions are conducted in RMB,
except for the purchases of imported machinery and equipment,
and sales of dairy products to Hong Kong and Macau. As at 30
June 2016, substantially all of the Group’s assets and liabilities
were denominated in RMB except for the cash and bank
balances of approximately RMB957,785,000 (31 December
2015: RMB1,722,071,000), RMB222,713,000 (31 December
2015: RMB121,752,000), RMB413,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB52,265,000), RMB38,830,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB3,165,000) and RMB33,314,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB28,953,000) which were denominated in United States
dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Euro, New Zealand dollars and
Danish Krone, respectively, the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of approximately RMB36,325,000 (31 December
2015: RMB901,452,000), RMB5,824,353,000 (31 December
2015: RMB6,897,340,000) and RMB33,419,000 (31 December
2015: RMB28,934,000) which were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, United States dollars and Euro, respectively, and a pledged
deposit of approximately RMB12,452,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB12,182,000) which were denominated in United States dollars.
Management has set up procedures to periodically review and
monitor the foreign currency risk exposure.
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Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2016, the Group has pledged certain bank deposits,
investment deposits, land use rights and certain property, plant and
equipment aggregating to approximately RMB1,200,286,000 (31
December 2015: RMB1,181,352,000).

Contingent Liabilities and Capital
Commitments

Details of contingent liabilities and capital commitments are set
out in Notes 29 and 30, respectively, to the Interim Financial
Statements.

Corporate Governance

The Company is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal
control, and increasing transparency and accountability to
shareholders. The Board acknowledges that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are beneficial to the Group
and its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code during the period (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own
code of corporate governance practices.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the six
months ended 30 June 2016.
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Board of Directors

As at the date of this interim report, the Board currently comprises
two executive Directors, namely, Ms. Sun Yiping (chief executive
officer) and Mr. Bai Ying; six non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Ma Jianping (Chairman), Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Tim
@rting Jorgensen, Ms. Liu Ding (Vice-Chairwoman) and Mr. Filip
Kegels; and five independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen) (Vice-Chairman), Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew and Dr.
Liao Jianwen.

Securities Transactions of Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules
governing dealings by all Directors in the securities of the Company.
The Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code throughout the six months ended 30 June
2016.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities
During the six months ended 30 June 2016,

(1) the Company repurchased on the open market a total of
6,116,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration of
RMB58.1 million, all of which were cancelled during the six
months ended 30 June 2016; and

2 the trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme
purchased on the open market a total of 2,094,000 shares
of the Company at a total consideration of approximately
RMB16.9 million.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the six months ended 30 June 2016.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew (chairman), Mr. Jiao
Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt and Mr. Zhang
Xiaoya. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the Company’s
management and the external auditors, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Company and discussed auditing,
risk management, internal control, whistleblowing policy and system
and financial reporting matters, including the review of the Group’s
unaudited interim financial statements for the six months ended 30
June 2016.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. Regular meetings are held with
institutional investors and financial analysts to ensure two-way
communications on the Company’s performance and development.

By order of the Board

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 August 2016
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B ER WS

Ernst & Young
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
www.ey.com

EYzx

To the Board of Directors
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Introduction

We have reviewed the interim financial information set out on pages
56 to 124, which comprises the condensed consolidated statement
of financial position of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at 30 June 2016
and the related condensed consolidated statements of profit or
loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for
the six-month period then ended, and explanatory notes. The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited require the preparation of a report on interim financial
information to be in compliance with the relevant provisions thereof
and International Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial
Reporting” (“IAS 34”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. The directors of the Company are responsible for
the preparation and presentation of this interim financial information
in accordance with IAS 34. Our responsibility is to express a
conclusion on this interim financial information based on our review.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Review Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim
Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of
the Entity” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. A review of interim financial information consists
of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial
and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit
conducted in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that
we would become aware of all significant matters that might be
identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT
By EMRE

Conclusion wEom
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes  RIEHFIHIER - BT AREEMETHE R
us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information is  {FI%8{= K& M B HABT 75 & B FE — Y1 & A7 mIF R %

not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34. FRC R 25T BRI )FE 4T REL -
Certified Public Accountants HEEIED
Hong Kong B

24 August 2016 —E—XFENA=-1+IH
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INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
hHAI AR SRR

Unaudited
RCER

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRIEAEAR

2016 2015
—EB—RE —ET-hF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T AR®T T AREFT
Continuing operations BESEER
Revenue WA 4 27,257,154 25,564,409
Cost of sales SHER A (18,075,749) (17,421,599)
Gross profit ER 9,181,405 8,142,810
Other income and gains Hi g A R 4 169,963 177,611
Losses arising from changes IR R ERBEEKTZ
in fair value less cost to FEELEMNGE
sell of dairy cows (22,285) (6,912)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RKHE R (6,448,888) (5,565,274)
Administrative expenses THEA (1,135,934) (1,093,651)
Other expenses HEmEMR 5 (218,793) (182,839)
Interest income ISV N 278,098 273,764
Finance costs RN 7 (151,460) (134,616)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates  FE(RESZS A TIFE, (BE) (154,555) 143,306
Profit before tax from continuing REFELEEELE 2
operations Bt A0 R 6 1,497,551 1,754,199
Income tax expense FrS 8 i 8 (313,030) (321,343)
Profit for the period from continuing RBEFEKLLEEL 2
operations Z< 2R R 5 1,184,521 1,432,856
Discontinued operation BRIEREEK
Loss for the period from a discontinued & B B 42 | F &L %75 2
operation NEAESIE 9 = 8)
Profit for the period AN BRI 1,184,521 1,432,848
Attributable to: VA% 77 A -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ Y =WN 1,077,290 1,338,669
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR AR RS 107,231 94,179
1,184,521 1,432,848
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FEEFAUEERAR —T A FHRHRE

FHARRAR S B R
Unaudited
RISER

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRIEAEAR

2015
—ET—hF
Note Restated
B aE KEES
Earnings per share attributable to  ZAQFEEREA A
ordinary equity holders of the EEERAER
Company (AERAR® )
(expressed in RMB per share) 10
Basic BN
— For profit for the period — ZEAF) 0.277 0.344
— For profit from continuing operations ~ — R BIFE K LK 2
58 0.277 0.344
Diluted i3
— For profit for the period — ARERFI 0.277 0.343
— For profit from continuing operations ~ — 2 BB RE LXK 2

ZilbE
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INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
THIF GRS 2 E KNSR

Unaudited
RICERZ
For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLLAEA

2015
—T—FF
Note RMB’000
MaE AREBTT
Profit for the period 7 HA F) 5 1,184,521 1,432,848
Other comprehensive income/(loss) E#2Ekz (EE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) A B 7 E R
to be reclassified to profit or loss in A EW RS ( /é?f@)
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of A G5NE )
foreign operations PE R =% 11,177 (6,088)
Cash flow hedges: WEMEEF
Effective portion of changes in REBAE AT A
fair value of hedging instruments ’““LTE“@JZ
arising during the period BERED - (11,519)
Income tax effect et s & = 3,098
Net other comprehensive income/ H#EHBBEHRIES
(loss) to be reclassified to profit BENHEMEEKE
or loss in subsequent periods (E518) R 11,177 (14,509)
Other comprehensive loss not to R TeEZ 74
be reclassified to profit or loss in EEmAIRMEE
subsequent periods: E18
Equity investments designated as fair ~ #8F AU AR BETER
value through other comprehensive ﬁi%@).ﬁr)\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ
income: WM AIZE
Changes in fair value NREES 16(a)/(b) (67,100) (91,363)
Net other comprehensive loss not to HEHETAEEH 2
be reclassified to profit or loss in ZEZNHEMEE
subsequent periods EiEFE (67,100) (91,363)
Other comprehensive loss, Hih2HEEE -
net of tax HIBRH A (55,923) (105,872)
Total comprehensive income AE2HE N EEE
for the period 1,128,598 1,326,976
Attributable to: AR & 77 B A
Owners of the Company KRR A 988,488 1,244,756
Non-controlling interests FEE I AR B A 2 140,110 82,220
1,128,598 1,326,976




INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EI R AR B B AR &
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Unaudited Audited
RCER KB IZ
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—EB-—RF —ET—hF
AA=1H i al=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARET T ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRB 12 11,477,297 11,637,977
Construction in progress EEIR 13 1,592,229 900,939
Investment properties HEYEE 30,372 20,078
Land use rights i AR A 967,522 888,680
Goodwill [EES 14 6,569,075 5,850,599
Other intangible assets HEmEEEE 1,998,479 1,731,018
Investments in associates REE RN AR E 4,077,528 4,185,883
Deferred tax assets BRI IR E B 394,969 307,534
Biological assets EMEE 345,381 289,823
Non-current financial assets ERBEHMEE 16 2,110,355 2,327,916
Long term prepayments KHEITEFT 48,521 91,738
Total non-current assets WAIETE BB E 29,611,728 28,232,185
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other current financial assets EM R emEE 16 6,902,914 5,255,273
Derivative financial instruments TESMITEAE 23 - 10,944
Inventories FE 17 3,468,515 4,339,506
Trade and bills receivables FEW AR TR R =% 18 2,929,605 1,617,757
Prepayments, deposits and BAR EZER
other receivables H b fE U F0 18 2,201,662 2,158,884
Pledged deposits REBESTFR 19 747,809 722,402
Cash and bank balances R RRITHET 19 5,206,881 7,931,237
21,457,386 22,036,003
Assets of disposal groups classified as N EAEAEFENESE
held for sale HANEE 9 253,799 384,353

Total current assets

RREBEE

21,711,185

22,420,356
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INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

PRI RS MR &

Unaudited Audited
REER BNz
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—E—REF —E—hF
ANA=1TH |l a=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M5 AR¥T T AREET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables FENBERRERE 20 5,779,867 4,644,298
Other payables and accruals HEmpEmoaRiERER 21 4,789,448 4,989,524
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings 22 6,403,893 6,080,751
Other loans HEMER 25,915 43,915
Derivative financial instruments PTEERITE 23 4,752 3,160
Deferred income EIEYT A 53,999 45,652
Income tax payable FERTFTSHR 196,932 153,367
17,254,806 15,960,667
Liabilities directly associated with the A ARFEFER
assets classified as held for sale BEAEREBENEE 9 13,234 15,708
Total current liabilities BREAE 17,268,040 15,976,375
NET CURRENT ASSETS BREBEE 4,443,145 6,443,981
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBRE
LIABILITIES 34,054,873 34,676,166
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBES
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings 22 3,768,505 4,969,511
Long term payables RHEIFEZUR 42,164 68,399
Deferred income EIEUT A 383,843 303,116
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBE & 71,077 76,050
Other non-current financial liabilities HEMIEREemas 24 3,007,943 2,643,936
Total non-current liabilities BIEREAE 7,273,532 8,061,012
NET ASSETS BEE 26,781,341 26,615,154
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PHEIB RS MBARR K

Unaudited Audited
RBEZ KB
30 June 31 December

2016 2015

—B—RF —ET—hF

A==l - H=+—H

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARET T ARETT
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEHEB ANEEER
Company
Share capital R& AN 25 356,877 357,262
Treasury shares held under ARZ g N AR
share award scheme EFRG% 27 (432,678) (415,762)
Other reserves HAh 26 12,409,144 13,321,140
Retained earnings {REBAE 9,950,889 8,873,599
22,284,232 22,136,239
Non-controlling interests EEEE e T f 4,497,109 4,478,915
TOTAL EQUITY HiER 26,781,341 26,615,154
Ma Jianping Sun Yiping
BEY BREFETE
Director Director
= =
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» China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2016

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
THIFPAFEHESRER

Unaudited
REER

For the six months ended 30 June
BEAA=1THIEAEA

2015
—T—hE
Notes RMB’000
BiaE AREFT
Cash flows from operating activities REERELNEESRE
Profit before tax: BRIAE -
From continuing operations REFELEER 1,497,551 1,754,199
From a discontinued operation REDRIEEEER = 8)
Adjustments for: BTN SIBELAE
Interest income F B A (278,098) (273,764)
Finance costs B R A 7 151,460 134,616
Depreciation of items of property, WE - WENMRIEITE
plant and equipment 6 752,094 678,071
Depreciation of investment properties &I E 6 2,474 1,586
Amortisation of land use rights i AR 6 11,505 12,135
Amortisation of other intangible assets Lt 8 72 38 A= 4 5% 6 18,080 8,798
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of BREWE  ME M
property, plant and equipment wtEEE S (Was) 4/5 (2,475) 7,153
Gain on disposal of a disposal group HENBEARBRED
classified as held for sale PR E AR s 4 (29,127) -

Provision for trade receivables and 7 Ui BR R R ELAth R U R
other receivables TR A 5 6,873 3,249

Write-back of provision for trade (0] e UK AR 3k R oA
receivables and other receivables JE U TR I A 5 (21,740) (31,262)

Write-down of inventories to net FEMRZ &R EE
realisable value 5 57,535 23,808

Government grants related to income  E2Ug A KBRS~ BT B = (45,400)
Amortisation of deferred income A @N: 372 4 (15,837) (12,753)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RTFaa = 4 - (49,989)
Share of losses/(profits) of associates ~ FE(LEEL A FIEE,
(F;8) 154,555 (143,306)
Losses arising from changes in fair AAERNREREER R Z
value less cost to sell of dairy cows BEELNER 22,285 6,912
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net [& 5 518, (Uas ) /$ 58 4/5 (30,897) 23,283
Net fair value loss/(gain) on forward R HRINEE S 4 R iR BAONEE
currency contracts and forward HHAREEE
currency swaps (Uz)F5E 4/5 5,011 (15,991)
Share option scheme expense BERGREET2IF = 14,854
Share award scheme expense I& = A2 EhET 2R 2 27 50,546 138,038
2,351,795 2,234,229
Increase in other financial assets Eith & EIG N
— entrusted loans —LEER (13,520) (8,916)
Decrease in inventories FERD 907,501 8,291
Increase in trade and bills receivables FEUBR TN R Z 552N (1,233,189) (685,584)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits {REBESF R/ (1h0) 67,633 (38,127)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and T3 - & K& E b fEUL
other receivables RIER D 207,330 232,014
Increase in trade and bills payables FETBR IR R 552N 1,089,455 193,153
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — Hth fE{t 718 N FaIR &
and accruals #hn, Crd) (196,992) 754,755




RERFAXEERAR —ZE R FHhHERE

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
THERGESRERER

Unaudited
RCER

For the six months ended 30 June
BEZEAA=1+HIEAEA

2016 2015
—E—REF —ET—hF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR®T T ARETTT
Cash generated from operations QB EIEE LIRS 3,180,013 2,689,815
Interest paid > F A (142,805) (126,273)
Income taxes paid SN (361,873) (456,278)
Net cash flows from operating REERELCNERERE
activities 2,675,335 2,107,264
Cash flows from investing activities ®REEFBELENEESRE
Proceeds from disposal of items of REME - BFELRERS
property, plant and equipment IR 99,762 44,488
Proceeds from disposal of biological BEEMEEFSHIA
assets 1,935 1,784
Proceeds from disposal of a disposal HESEAEEFED
group classified as held for sale B B A FT1S 5K IA 98,000 =
Purchase of items of property, plant and &S - = KRB EH
equipment (457,258) (275,982)
Purchase of construction in progress BEEEIRE 13 (1,007,994) (1,102,496)
Purchase of other intangible assets BEHMELEE (2,421) (3,388)
Purchase of land use rights BB s (15,241) (17,093)
Purchase of biological assets BEEMEE (87,640) (30,648)
Purchase of a short term bond BETHES = (561,901)
Purchase of unit trust investments BEBMETRE - (53,403)
Disposal of unit trust investments HEBMNETIRE 150,000 227,000
Decrease/(increase) of long term time  REATE EAFZORA~(3&0)
deposits 243,617 (380,641)
Purchase of time deposits with original  BEEREIEI R A =18 A
maturity of more than three months LA EHYTE BRTF X (615,963) (72,795)
Purchase of investment deposits BERETR (6,582,036) (5,145,839)
Withdrawal of investment deposits W [E13% & 17 3K 4,799,536 7,967,743
Interest received IS ERFI 8, 224,590 202,424
Dividends received from associates UG BB 2 A R R B, 3,698 20,700
Acquisition of subsidiaries g /N (1,085,941) =
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRFAA] - (861)
Payment of contingent consideration s ARREBR (50,000) (10,000)
Receipt of government grants related to  WENEE B & EEMHE 2
purchase of fixed assets B e & 73,875 37,350
Net cash flows from/(used in) REZEBEL(FA)
investing activities FHERE (4,209,481) 846,442
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INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

THERGEERERER

Unaudited
REER

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRHILAEA

2015
—ZT—hHF
Notes RMB’000
B 5T AREFT
Cash flows from financing activities rﬂﬁ”ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ’ﬁﬁ.%ﬁg
Proceeds from interest-bearing STERITERMEIUE
bank loans 2,513,019 3,232,976
Repayment of interest-bearing EBETBIRITER
bank loans (3,522,035) (2,720,894)
Increase in pledged deposits RITERARE
for bank loans ﬁ,mi o (93,040) (147,9006)
Proceeds from other loans ﬁ{m%%ﬁﬂ%ﬂlﬁ - 100,000
Repayment of other loans EBEHMER (18,000) =
Repayment of long term payables BERIAREMNZIE (38,633) (50,068)
Deemed disposal of equity interests in ~ R{EHE —KF AT Z
a subsidiary without loss of control Hx%(/x*ﬁ_%iﬁ 4E) - 3,468,594
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Y B& FE 5 AR A% SR %8 (2,718) (2,510,675)
Capital injection from non-controlling JEFERR AR R T &
interests 28,537 9,782
Shares purchased for share award RIREREEEIER
scheme (16,916) (67,603)
Shares issued under equity-settled R 15 LA PR 15 Sz [~ Y B PR
share option arrangements BLHETRG 16,632 50,971
Shares repurchased and cancelled {’\ﬁ%@&*ﬁﬁ (58,142) -
Dividends paid to owners S'Z1‘J‘$ AIEE AR
of the Company (552,697) (546,923)
Dividends paid to non-controlling jiﬁiﬂ AR AR R R Y
interests (54,994) (95,262)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁEE/(Fﬁﬂi)
financing activities mE (1,798,987) 722,992
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and He KBRS EYigmn
cash equivalents Cmd) =58 (3,333,133) 3,676,698
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—HHNBEER
1 January REZEY 6,833,608 3,607,033
Effect of foreign exchange rate fERFEME(FR)
changes, net 33,043 207,846
Cash and cash equivalents at RAA=+HWEER
30 June REZEEY 3,533,518 7,491,577
Analysis of balances of cash and RERBESEB/UYERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances as stated R HS RS 7%
in the interim condensed consolidated AR FERAIR &
statement of financial position NR1T4ETF 5,206,881 8,606,899
Time deposits with original maturity JREEAR B =18 H A £/
more than three months TEHRF K (1,673,363) (1,115,322)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in AP HIfSRRG AR DRER
the interim condensed consolidated FRBIBREIR & K
statement of cash flows WEEEBY 3,533,518 7,491,577




NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED

HERTAXEERAR —F

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FHIRS AR S B S R R M AL

1.

Corporate Information

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an
investment holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged
in the manufacture and distribution of dairy products mainly in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2016 have
been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting and the disclosure requirements of Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial
statements do not include all the information and disclosures
required in the annual financial statements, and should be read
in conjunction with the Group’s annual financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2015.

New standards and amendments adopted by the
Group

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these interim condensed consolidated financial statements
are consistent with those in the Group’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, except
for the adoption of the following new and revised standards
effective as at 1 January 2016. The Group has not early
adopted any other standard, or amendment that has been
issued but is not yet effective.

The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed
below. Although these new standards and amendments apply
for the first time in 2016, they do not have a material impact
on the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group
or the interim condensed consolidated financial statements of
the Group. The nature and the impact of each new standards
or amendments is described below:

DEEHR
ARBRERETEEMRINERRER
RAE) e ARB—FREZFRAR > METF
RATBHEFEARKMBE(THE DS
S A E R HER

RREERAEHEETFHREY

mREXE
BHE_Z—R"FAA=ZTHLERNEANRE
BT GRS ERRERBER S
BRI Y HHE RBEHER B
BRAREZ LMARAZKBERERE -

AREEZTIERFEE M B RRALKRRE
FEMBHREMBFNZEEEMEE - HE
EASEEE_T-AFt_A=t—HL
FRENFERERR —HHE -

RE BRIz # R AR

BRERBUA TR _T—RF—H—BERH
RS RT RSN - HREZE T A
BRAR S ISR ST EGR © BRR
AEBHEEZE_T-—AFT_A=1+—HILHF
ENFEFBRRARAERT —H - A&
B3 1R AR AN O 28 0 1B i R A A (R AT
b XERISAEET ©

HERBNMEERYER T CRE - LT
ERIRETR T — N FEREA - AT
HEFEARBTLRYAEBNTERA
MRS NG M BRRELEA
P8 - S EILAISETHIEE R ERT
E
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Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies ontinueq

New standards and amendments adopted by the
Group (continued)

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

IFRS 14 is an optional standard that allows an entity, whose
activities are subject to rate-regulation, to continue applying
most of its existing accounting policies for regulatory deferral
account balances upon its first-time adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Entities that adopt
IFRS 14 must present the regulatory deferral accounts as
separate line items on the statement of financial position
and present movements in these account balances as
separate line items in the statement of profit or loss and
Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). The standard requires
disclosure of the nature of, and risks associated with, the
entity’s rate-regulation and the effects of that rate-regulation
on its financial statements. IFRS 14 is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. Since the Group
is an existing IFRS preparer and is not involved in any rate-
regulated activities, this standard does not apply.

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations

The amendments to IFRS 11 require that a joint operator
accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation,
in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes
a business, must apply the relevant IFRS 3 Business
Combinations principles for business combination accounting.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in
a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of an
additional interest in the same joint operation if joint control
is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to
IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply when
the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity,
are under common control of the same ultimate controlling

party.

The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial
interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional
interests in the same joint operation and are prospectively
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments
do not have any impact on the Group as there has been no
interest acquired in a joint operation during the period.

2.

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

RAUEERAEESTBREH
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies (ontinueq

New standards and amendments adopted by the
GrOUp (continued)

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
The amendments clarify the principle in IAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets that revenue
reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated
from operating a business (of which the asset is a part) rather
than the economic benefits that are consumed through use
of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and
may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise
intangible assets. The amendments are effective prospectively
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with
early adoption permitted. These amendments do not have
any impact to the Group given that the Group has not used a
revenue-based method to depreciate its non-current assets.

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer
Plants

The amendments change the accounting requirements for
biological assets that meet the definition of bearer plants.
Under the amendments, biological assets that meet the
definition of bearer plants will no longer be within the scope
of IAS 41 Agriculture. Instead, IAS 16 will apply. After initial
recognition, bearer plants will be measured under IAS 16 at
accumulated cost (before maturity) and using either the cost
model or revaluation model (after maturity). The amendments
also require that produce that grows on bearer plants will
remain in the scope of IAS 41 measured at fair value less
costs to sell. For government grants related to bearer plants,
IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure
of Government Assistance will apply. The amendments are
retrospectively effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016, with early adoption permitted. These
amendments do not have any impact to the Group as the
Group does not have any bearer plants.
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Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies ontinueq

New standards and amendments adopted by the
Group (continued)

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

The amendments will allow entities to use the equity method
to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates in their separate financial statements. Entities
already applying IFRS and electing to change to the equity
method in their separate financial statements will have to
apply that change retrospectively. First-time adopters of IFRS
electing to use the equity method in their separate financial
statements will be required to apply this method from the
date of transition to IFRS. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with
early adoption permitted. These amendments do not have
any impact on the Group’s interim condensed consolidated
financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle
These improvements are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2016. They include:

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

Assets (or disposal groups) are generally disposed of either
through sale or distribution to owners. The amendment clarifies
that changing from one of these disposal methods to the
other would not be considered a new plan of disposal, rather
it is a continuation of the original plan. There is, therefore, no
interruption of the application of the requirements in IFRS 5.
This amendment must be applied prospectively.

2.
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies (ontinueq
New standards and amendments adopted by the
GrOUp (continued)
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(i

(i

Servicing contracts

The amendment clarifies that a servicing contract that
includes a fee can constitute continuing involvement
in a financial asset. An entity must assess the nature
of the fee and the arrangement against the guidance
for continuing involvement in IFRS 7 in order to assess
whether the disclosures are required. The assessment
of which servicing contracts constitute continuing
involvement must be done retrospectively. However, the
required disclosures would not need to be provided for
any period beginning before the annual period in which
the entity first applies the amendments.

Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed
interim financial statements

The amendment clarifies that the offsetting disclosure
requirements do not apply to condensed interim
financial statements, unless such disclosures provide a
significant update to the information reported in the most
recent annual report. This amendment must be applied
retrospectively.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The amendment clarifies that market depth of high quality
corporate bonds is assessed based on the currency in which
the obligation is denominated, rather than the country where
the obligation is located. When there is no deep market for
high quality corporate bonds in that currency, government
bond rates must be used. This amendment must be applied

prospectively.
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Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies ontinueq

New standards and amendments adopted by the
Group (continued)

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

The amendment clarifies that the required interim disclosures
must either be in the interim financial statements or
incorporated by cross-reference between the interim financial
statements and wherever they are included within the interim
financial report (e.g., in the management commentary or risk
report). The other information within the interim financial report
must be available to users on the same terms as the interim
financial statements and at the same time. This amendment
must be applied retrospectively.

These amendments do not have any impact on the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
The amendments to IAS 1 clarify, rather than significantly
change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify:

e The materiality requirements in IAS 1

e  That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss
and OCI and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated

e That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to financial statements

e  That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method must be
presented in aggregate as a single line item, and
classified between those items that will or will not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that
apply when additional subtotals are presented in the statement
of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and
OCI. These amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with early adoption
permitted. These amendments do not have any impact on the
Group.
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of Preparation and Changes to the
Group’s Accounting Policies (ontinueq

New standards and amendments adopted by the
GrOUp (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Investment
Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

The amendments address issues that have arisen in applying
the investment entities exception under IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify
that the exemption from presenting consolidated financial
statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an
investment entity, when the investment entity measures all of
its subsidiaries at fair value.

Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a
subsidiary of an investment entity that is not an investment
entity itself and that provides support services to the
investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an
investment entity are measured at fair value. The amendments
to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures allow
the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain
the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity
associate or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.

These amendments must be applied retrospectively and are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016, with early adoption permitted. These amendments do
not have any impact on the Group as the Group does not
apply the consolidation exception.
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R S SRR A

3. Segment Information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four reportable operating segments as follows:

e Liquid milk product manufacture and distribution of
segment ultra-high temperature milk
(“UHT milk”), milk beverage
and yogurt

o Ice cream product manufacture and distribution of
segment ice cream

manufacture and distribution of
milk powder

e Mik powder
product segment

principally the Group’s cheese
and plant-based nutrition
product business and trading
business

e Others segment

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax from continuing operations. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax from continuing operations is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax from
continuing operations except that interest income, finance
costs, share of profits of associates, income tax expense, as
well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

3. Segment Information (continueq) 3. RESIE R @)
The following tables present the revenue, profit and certain TREHNTAREENKELZE DLW A ~ 758
asset and liability information for the Group’s operating MEHLBEMNBENEER :
segments:
For the six months ended Liquid milk Ice cream  Milk powder
30 June 2016 (unaudited) product product product Others  Consolidated
B2-3-R"ERA=THLEARA(REER) BENER KEWER IhER Aftr g8

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRE  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMTR

Segment revenue: AHUA
Seles to exteral customers HETINIER 23,761,520 1,703,333 1,660,036 132,265 27,257,154
Intersegment sales PEEHE 369,487 59,854 - 105,508 534,849
24,131,007 1,763,187 1,660,036 231,113 21,192,003

Reconclliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment sales HEHTRHE (534,849)
Revenue from continuing operations REFELEEH NN 27,257,154
Segment results PREE 1,696,982 37,119 (99,938) (59,493) 1,575,270
Reconclliation: Eg
Interest income FlEmA 278,098
Finance costs zﬂﬁfﬂi (151,460)
Losses arising from changes in fair valug less SR EHBEN K £8E

cost o sell of dairy cows EE@EETE (22,285)
Share of losses of associates FﬁE H“* NS [ (154,555)
Unallocated corporate expenses LN (27,517)
Profit before tax from continuing operations ~ RERBELLEK 7 HAAE 1,497,551
Income tax expense FrfERE (813,080)
Profit for the period from continuing operations R BB &5 % 7 K HFE 1,184,521
At 30 June 2016 (unaudited) RZE-~EXA=1H

(REBER)

Segment assets ﬁ“BﬁE 29,734,653 2,522,625 14,871,161 1,438,308 48,566,747
Reconcliation: ¥:
Elimination of intersegment receivables i‘} iﬁ“* BlheY (11,908,492)
Unallocated corporate assets RO EE AT ﬁ% 14,410,859
Assets related to disposal groups PREEREE 253,799
Total assets BEE 51,322,913
Segment liabilities AUaE: 16,668,561 2,029,960 2,503,235 1,642,309 22,844,065
Reconcilation: W
Elimination of intersegment payables HEAHHEEMATT (11,908,492)
Unallocated corporate liabilties ROEBEA TEL 13,592,765
Liabilties related to disposal groups /*/F&EEZHZEE 13,234

Total liabilities Baf 24,541,572
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

3. Segment Information continueq) 3. RXESIE R @)
For the six months ended Liquid milk Ice cream Milk powder
30 June 2015 (unaudited) product product product Others  Consolidated
HE_T-RERA=TRINEA(REER) REDEDR  KEhER TEm HthEm 74

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  ARRTE  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR

Segment revenue: HEBA :
Sales to external customers HETIMIEP 21,940,946 1,644,268 1,783,488 195707 25,564,400
Intersegment sales PEHHE 299,468 109,649 24,197 143,866 577,180
22,240,414 1,753,917 1,807,685 339,573 26,141,589

Reconciliation: RE:
Elimination of intersegment sales HENPREE (677,180)
Revenue from continuing operations REFELEEB BN 25,564,409
Segment results PHRE 1,924,679 57,951 27,201 (170,009) 1,839,822
Reconciliation; RE:
Interest income FMBMA 273,764
Finance costs RERA ‘ (134,616)
Losses arising from changes in fair value AR ERFEER T

less cost to sel of dairy cows BRELNER (6912)
Share of profits of associates e (B Q FE 143,308
Unallocated corporate expenses TABHAA (361,165)
Profit before tax from continuing operations ~ REBEFLERK 2 K AHE 1,754,199
Income tax expense il san (321,343)
Profit for the period from continuing operations B & &G4 £ 2 REH| 1,432,856
At 31 December 2015 (audited) R-E-RE+-A=t+-H

(BER)

Segment assets ﬁﬁ[ﬂﬁE 26,601,192 1,806,127 14,331,373 1324122 44,152,814
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment receivables ﬂﬁﬁ"* e (0,681,088)
Unallocated corporate assets THUNATEE 15,796,462
Assets related to disposal groups /*/F&E:"EEZEZ EE 384,353
Total assets BEE 50,652,541
Segment liabilities ﬁﬁ[‘ﬁﬁ 14,662,301 1,483,008 2,058,501 1,464,801 19,558,611
Reconciliation:
Elimination of intersegment payables %ﬁ"* F'EJJ‘g NEY: (0,681,088)
Unallocated corporate liabilties RN 1 14,144,156
Liabilties related to disposal groups /*/F&EJ‘EE%EZQT B 15,708

Total liabilties Baf 24,037,387




TRERFAXERAA

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue, Other Income and Gains

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for goods returns and trade discounts, and after
eliminations of all significant intra-group transactions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains
from continuing operations is as follows:

R RNFPRBRE

AR S S IR AR

4. WA ~ H AR K=
WA EEERORERE - CHREE
RESFN  AREREENFEATMNS
EAR S B FFSHBEE -

AEBEREFELLEBHEA - ElA
RS DT

Unaudited
RICER

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRILAEA

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—hEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE AR®T T ARKETTT
Revenue: L NE
Sale of goods EmiEE 27,257,154 25,564,409
Other income and gains: EMUYA Mg
Government grants related to BIS#ENE
— Recognition of deferred income — ERRERIRIE WA
a5 (@) 15,837 12,753
- Income and biological assets — B A KLY
BERAH (b) 39,052 56,768
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—KFRERE - 49,989
Net fair value gain on forward R HRINEE S 49 IR BB
currency contracts and forward INERERA B
currency swaps et = 15,991
Gain on disposal of a disposal group HEN B ABFEFE
classified as held for sale BB B 29,127 -
Gain on disposal of items of BEMXE BEX
property, plant and equipment Bl 2,475 -
Foreign exchange gains, net PE H a5 58 30,897 -
Others Hh 52,575 42,110
169,963 177,611

27,427,117 25,742,020
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

4. Revenue, Other Income and Gains (ontinueq)
Notes:

@

The Group has received certain government grants in forms
of property, plant and equipment donations, cash donations
to purchase items of property, plant and equipment, and cash
donations with certain conditions attaching to. These grants
are initially recorded as deferred income. The grants relating
to property, plant and equipment are amortised to match
the depreciation charge of the underlying property, plant and
equipment in accordance with the assets estimated useful lives.
The cash donations with unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
are only recognised in profit or loss when the Group satisfied the
attached conditions.

The government grants in the form of cash award have been
received for the Group’s contribution to the development of the
local dairy product industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attaching to these grants.

5. Other Expenses

4, WA -

Ha A RS @)

GEX

@

BT LA - WS FER S 1R A 3R 2 B BUA
BEDE BEAXEBIX  RAXAEERT
ETHB - WHHE TG - WEHBS )
FRBERELERA - BREYE  BEMRE
MBI IR IR B E R ET R R F A - A
LAY - BERRBOMERS - K
BUER RIS R R A B IR S BB
1R &R AN S B i B AT B A A R (R E 1B 2R
WFER °

AEBEREEMI MR TENEREME
Bt BER S RBEANBN@ME - 2%
B W S P A R ER MR AR E
I o

5. HtBEH

Unaudited
RICERZ
For the six months ended 30 June
BEAB=1THLAAEA

2016 2015
—E—ARE —E—FF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFIT
Provision for trade receivables and other & BR FX N2 H 4t fE I 3018
receivables A 6,873 3,249
Write-back of provision for trade 1B [0] e WA BR 0 % L At B L
receivables and other receivables IERME (21,740) (31,262)
Write-down of inventories to net GFEMRE] 2R FE
realisable value 57,535 23,808
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEYE - BERRE
plant and equipment [E518 = 7,153
Donations B 3,317 8,059
Educational surcharges and city HEBW AR T A EE
construction tax B 119,816 129,088
Net fair value loss on forward currency REPINEES DR R ERE
contracts (note 23(a)) JFFE (M EE23(a)) 5,011 -
Foreign exchange losses, net b 5 518 5 58 - 23,283
Others Hith 47,981 19,461
218,793 182,839
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

6. Profit Before Tax 6. BiEIRIE
The Group’s profit before tax from continuing operations is NEB K BB RS EBH T ATAE T &
arrived at after charging/(crediting): B (5t N) THRIERTEMS -

Unaudited
RGEX
For the six months ended 30 June
BZEANA=THLEKREAR
2016 2015
—E—REF ZE—hF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt EE ARET T ARKETTT

Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 18,073,165 17,421,634
Realised and unrealised fair value B R ARG

losses/(gains) of commodity future HESEARNR

contracts, net B8, () FE 23(b) 2,584 (35)

Cost of sales SHER A 18,075,749 17,421,599

Depreciation of items of property, Yz - BB NEETE

plant and equipment 12 752,094 678,071
Depreciation of investment properties & &Y E 2,474 1,586
Amortisation of land use rights + (5 PR R £ 11,505 12,135
Amortisation of other intangible assets {8 2 & B #6 85 18,080 8,798
Outsourcing expenses SNEL B (a) 169,136 258,452
Minimum lease payments under KEHEREES

operating leases 95,846 95,741
Display space leasing fees BRAIZEEAE R 388,578 343,950
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNER(BFEESE

directors’ and senior executive’s KRBT ABE )

emoluments) 2,113,927 1,871,540

Note: B3 -

(@ In order to optimise the production plan for operation efficiency @@ ABELEENSINRALERR  KNEEI
purpose, the Group outsourced the production of certain BETERNEE - ZSBEAEEREE
products. The amounts represented the total amounts paid by ZEELY RS o

the Group for purchasing those products.
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R R S SRR A

7. Finance Costs 7. BERA
An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is as KEABEREEBRBEKREDHTOT ¢
follows:
Unaudited
REBEX

For the six months ended 30 June
BEAB=1THLAAEA

2016 2015
ZB—RF —T—AfF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Interest on long term payables REIEN BRI B 3,715 3,508
Interest on bank loans IRITE T B 84,068 64,711
Interest on US$500,000,000 3.50% BEIS0NA_E—\F
bond due 2018 || 53,2 500,000,0003
TEFZFE 61,810 57,730
Increase in discounted amounts of I By [0 7l T 32 AN =k 4R
contingent consideration arising from REMITIRIRE
the passage of time 275 4,814
Unrealised loss on interest rate forward FIRIZEAE 4R R EIR
contracts (note 23(a)) E518 (FIEE23(a)) 1,592 3,853

151,460 134,616
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

8. Income Tax Expense 8. FIBHXH
The major components of income tax expense in the interim hHRRG AR RANEHR Y B EE/K
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss are: =1

Unaudited
RGEX
For the six months ended 30 June
BZEANA=THLEKREAR
2016 2015
—E—REF ZE—hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT

Current income tax BNHA P 188t
Current income tax charge BNEAFTS i 405,438 439,940
Deferred income tax ELEFREH
Relating to origination and reversal of tax BB IEERE R E T
losses and temporary differences =B E A K Bl (92,408) (118,597)
313,030 321,343
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the (@) BRAARNEEEERNINL EEFBELEM
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong FERBANE  WEAIEFEFNEHNE
during the period. & o
During the period, certain PRC subsidiaries were subject to HR - BEOPECEMEHE  (CEARE
tax concessions in accordance with (i) the PRC corporate A i 70 2B A B 35 BB 5 BE B UBUR I RE A
income tax law; (i) “The notice of tax policies relating to the BAY  MiKEARBEHRESIDEMSHER
implementation of western China development strategy”; BEMEERNISEE (T @) &
and (i) “The notice of preferential tax policy for preliminary FHRFAREERBEER -

processing of agricultural products”.
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Disposal Groups Classified as Held for
Sale

On 29 August 20183, Inner Mongolia Mengniu Founding
Industry Management Co., Ltd. (“Founding”) acquired an
additional 64% equity interest in Chengdu Mengniu Dairy
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Chengdu Sales”) exclusively with a view to
subsequent disposal within one year. Prior to the acquisition,
Chengdu Sales was a 36% associate of Founding. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash of RMB5,763,000 paid on the acquisition date.
Chengdu Sales engages in the dairy product trading business.
The subsidiary was acquired for the purpose of the Group’s
distributorship reorganisation. As at 31 December 2013 and
2014, Chengdu Sales was in the process of liquidation. On
15 December 2015, the liquidation procedures had been
concluded. As such, the net assets of Chengdu Sales had
been classified as a disposal group as at 31 December
2013 and 2014, and the operating results of Chengdu Sales
for the years 2013, 2014 and 2015 had been disclosed
as a discontinued operation in the consolidated financial
statements.

o

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

TERBERENEELR

R-ZE—Z=ZFNA=-1+NB  AEEXRFH
REXTEERETCAR(FR])EEXE
SEAEEEERET AR ([REHEE])
BA%MAE - EARETHEENR —FALEZ
SRiE - WHERT - FKEBIEE B A R 1536%
MEE AT c WEZEEREURESARE
5,763,000 T A UK B H B S2 <F © AKX ERSH & 1
FARMRHEL - WEZTRARIZEME
e NEBEHCHEMEEE RE—=F
F-ZT—mE+-—RA=1+—8  KEPWEED
BERFHBREY RZE—RF+=ZA+H
B ZARFHEBRETER - BIKEEER =
Z——FRZFTNF+ZA=+—HAMHE
EFELHEAREMR KEAHE-_ZT—=
F —E-NER_E-AFHNRLLEEN
REMBRMEANINE-—BERIELEEBHRE

==

%
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Disposal Groups Classified as Held for
Sale (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, Yashili International Holdings Ltd.
(“Yashili”) planned to dispose, in the next 12 months, of Scient
(China) Baby Nourishment Co., Ltd. (“Scient China”) and
Heilongjiang Yashili Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Yashili Heilongjiang”),
which no longer operated as at 31 December 2015. Scient
China and Yashili Heilongjiang were principally engaged
in the production and sale of infant milk formula products
and base powders, respectively. The proposed disposal is
pursued in view of the key strategic deployment of Yashili in
the next five years, with an aim to provide a highly efficient
and modern production layout through attaining an optimised
and reasonable production capacity. As at 30 June 2016, final
negotiation for the sales was still in progress. As such, the net
assets of Scient China and Yashili Heilongjiang were classified
as disposal groups held for sale as at 31 December 2015 and
30 June 2016.

In addition, Danone Dairy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Danone
Shanghai”), an indirectly owned subsidiary of the Group,
intended to dispose, in the next 12 months, of a dairy
processing plant it no longer utilised as at 31 December 2015,
which includes a parcel of land use right, certain production
lines and related buildings. As at 31 December 2015, final
negotiation for the sale was in progress. As such, the related
assets of Danone Shanghai had been classified as a disposal
group held for sale as at 31 December 2015. As at 30 June
2016, the sale had been concluded.

9.

AR S S IR AR

TEARFRHFENEEAmw

N-E—RE+-A=+—8  HELHEE
TRAEBAT([HLF D ERRR =@
AHEER-_ZT—RF+_A=+—HEF
BRrENER(FEENREERBERA A
([HRHE ) REEIETFIEER AT
([HELF(RET)]) - EHRBERELF(E
BL) AR ENSREREERN TR
W RED - BITER N E S EERELF
ARAFHREIERR  BESBERSRE
MABERRE—EASRENRRICEEM
Be-RIZE—XNEANA=TH MLt
TREHEEER -t R=ZZE—RF+=
A=+—HBEZZE—X"EF~A=+H " K2
FREEAELTH (BTN FEERD BEAR
BEERNEER -

tAN - REERERK B AR ZEREAX(LE)
BERAR([ZE LB DBERARR+ @A
HEER - Z-AF+_A=+—BTERE
RzImmTe SR —BLuERE &
THEERLBEET R-FT—RF+=-HA
=t—H ERHEETREERER %
- R-T-AF+_A=+—H  ZE&t

BZRBEER D BRABARENREM
R-ZE—REXA=1+H ZHEDTK -
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

10. Earnings Per Share Attributable to 10. KRR EBREES ABLENER
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Company 2R
(a) Basic earnings per share (@) BRERZR
The basic earnings per share for the period is calculated AERBREARBF TR EHRAR R
by dividing the profit for the period attributable to ordinary TRIREA AEGETER AR 31T
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average TR IEFESEETE -

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of S E SR ERE T BTN 55
shares used in calculating the basic earnings per share HEAHNOT :

amount is as follows:

Unaudited
KRB

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=TRILAEAR

2016 2015
—F-RE —F—1%
Number Number
of shares of shares
:dvip4E| =4
(in thousand) (in thousand)
(FR) (FA%)
Restated
KE|
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January RN—A—HBBTEER 3,923,977 1,958,591
Effect of shares repurchase and v ACIS S04
cancellation (3,976) -
Effect of bonus shares AR dE0) -2 - 1,942,963
Effect of share options exercised BT ERENZE 655 1,614
Effect of share purchased under RIE N R 2R =T 2l A5
share award scheme =5 (34,492) (17,242)

Weighted average number of ordinary — 5+E &R EAREFFTHH
shares for the purpose of the basic B INAE 5 &R
earnings per share calculation 3,886,164 3,885,926
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S S IR AR

10. Earnings Per Share Attributable to 10. KRR EBREES ABLENER
Ordinary Equity Holders of the Company B )
(continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

(b) BEREERTF

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during that period, as used
in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed

FREERN TREMAARREEREK
A AEEANERAREAESRER
AP AE A TS BEINEF
BHABRRMAMERBTERNER
BREREZRTRERSETBRNER
PR T BT E o

to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

A reconciliation of the weighted average number of
shares used in calculating the diluted earnings per share
amount is as follows:

sHE B E 2 N B PR 0 T A
BB FELAT

Unaudited
RICER
For the six months ended 30 June
BZAA=1THILAAEA

2016 2015

—E—RE —ZT—hF
Number Number

of shares of shares

ROEA e e

(in thousand) (in thousand)

(F1) (T

Restated
K E5
Weighted average number of ordinary s+ E &A% E AR Z FIFT A HY
shares for the purpose of the basic B PNAE T 5 R
earnings per share calculation 3,886,164 3,885,926
Weighted average number of ordinary  {Rz% BRI FT A BRI TE
shares, assuming issued at no WiEEREET 2 EBR
consideration on the deemed hniEFHE
exercise of all share options during
the period 55 4,564
Adjustments for share award scheme  BtA% E 3Bt 2I{EH 5% = 9,522

HESREERNRAN
AR N9

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purpose
of the diluted earnings per share
calculation 3,886,219 3,900,012
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

11.

12.

Dividends

The directors do not recommend the payment of an interim
dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2016 (six months
ended 30 June 2015: Nil).

During the six months ended 30 June 2016, the Company
declared and paid final dividends of RMB0.14 (six months
ended 30 June 2015: RMBO0.28 (before bonus issue)) per
ordinary share as proposed for the year ended 31 December
2015 to the shareholders of the Company.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Movements of property, plant and equipment during the
period are as follows:

11.

12.

8=\
BETARBRERE_T—AFAA
BIEABANRERE(BE-—T—HFA
=+ALEAREA &) -

HE-_Z—REXNA=1tHILNEAR A2
REBESEEE T —aE+-_A=1+—
HIFFERARRRREE IR MRS EREE
R ERBRAREA4T(BE_S—HFEN
A=1+81EXEA « AR0.287T (AT IREETT
AT)) e

ME ~ BERSRE
W - BE RRERARRNEHNT

Unaudited Unaudited

2016 2015

—E-RF —ZE-hF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARKETTT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BMERAE 11,637,977 9,667,308

Additions hi-byi| 206,867 166,276
Transfers from construction in progress EEarETIRFIE13)

(note 13) 454,845 505,865
Transfers from investment properties HEEIREYE 8,492 31,368
Transfers to construction in progress EREEETR(ME13)

(note 13) (7,298) -
Transfers to investment properties ERSINEYE (18,654) =
Disposals RE (194,539) (105,362)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHEFAR] 68,319 =
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FKFARA] - (20,189)
Depreciation charge for the period REAFrEE A (MzE6)

(note 6) (752,094) (678,071)
Exchange realignment BE 5, AR 73,382 (5,210)
Carrying amount at 30 June RARA=+HRERHEE 11,477,297 9,561,985

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with net
book values of approximately RMB214,563,000 (31 December
2015: RMB217,460,000), RMB63,481,000 (31 December
2015: RMB65,877,000), and RMB42,045,000 (31 December
2015: RMB42,674,000) have been pledged to secure the
Group’s long term payables, short term bank loans (note 22)
and long term bank loans (note 22), respectively.

AEEETHRAFELN A ARK214,563,000
T(ZE—REF+-A=+—H: ARK
217,460,00070) + AR#63,481,0007T0(=F
—REF+-A=+—8: AK¥65,877,000
) M ARA42,045000T (ZE—RFE+=
B=1+—H8 : AR¥42,674,0007T) K% -
EREHEE DR AEAEEESRBERS
SIE - RERITER(Wi22) R RERITE
(22 FIK IR G -
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

13. Construction in Progress 13. &I R&E
Movements of construction in progress are as follows: EEIRESHOT
Unaudited Unaudited

R RSB
2016 2015
e = ¢
RMB’000 RMB’000
reetr NSRS

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BNEREE 900,939 2,030,097
Additions 1840 1,007,994 1,102,496
Transfers from property, plant and EREYE  BERRE
equipment (note 12) (Pf5E12) 7,298 -
Transfers to property, plant and equipment =% « BE KR E
(note 12) (MizE12) (454,845) (505,865)
Transfers to land use rights RS 4 Hh(F A - (41,807)
Transfers to other intangible assets EREHMEEE = (1,412)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WHEF A R] 130,627 =
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FXFRa] - (267,079)
Exchange realignment & H AR 216 (102,464)
Carrying amount at 30 June RANA=1+HMERE 1,592,229 2,213,966
14. Goodwill 14. &
Unaudited Unaudited
RBEX RECEZ

2016 2015
s = ¢
RMB’000 RMB’000
rentr NSRS

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B/MERRE 5,850,599 5,837,501
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28) WiE—RF A (HizE28) 718,476 _

Carrying amount at 30 June RANA=THAMEEE 6,569,075 5,837,501
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15. BRI E m R P8 K AR I 62

15. Impairment Testing of Goodwill and

Trademarks With Indefinite Useful Lives
Relating to Milk Powder Products

As of 30 June 2016, the carrying amounts of goodwill and
trademarks with indefinite useful lives allocated to the Group’s
milk powder product cash generating unit (“CGU”) were
RMB5,938,823,000 and RMB1,649,047,000, respectively.

The Group’s milk powder product CGU consisted mainly its
equity investment in Yashili. The significant fall in Yashili’s
share price as compared with the average purchase price paid
by the Company for its shareholding and the profit warning
published on 3 July 2016 by Yashili had constituted an
indication of impairment. Accordingly the carrying amount of
Yashili CGU was subject to an impairment test as at 30 June
2016.

The recoverable amount of the milk powder product CGU had
been determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation used an updated cash flow projection based on
financial forecasts covering a five-year period as approved by
senior management. The discount rate (before tax) and long-
term growth rate were 12.19% and 3.0%. The estimated
recoverable amount of the milk powder product CGU was
not materially greater than the carrying amount of the CGU.
Consequently, any adverse change in key assumptions would,
in isolation, cause an impairment loss to be recognised.

FF R AR E R

RZZBE-—RFEFANA=Z+H SEEXEKE
MHERRELBEU([REELE
LD mERERAERAFHEHENKRE
B Rl A K%5938,823,0007 &k A R#
1,649,047,0007T °

AEENDMERRSELEUTIZREH
RELTFOBRAKRE - BEAMOBRERER
B EFRAT S MR PR EE AR T -
MELAR —F-R"FLA=ZRELNEE
EBERERSR - At - BEARSELE
URREER T NFRNA=ZTREXR
BRI -

MMERBSELEENMAIWE S8 HRE
STEREMNEREBETUET - ZtERA
LEHMECRETEA - BEBRSRETEA
URESREEASMENTFHHTERA
B AR (BA) RRHERESFIA
12.19% % 3.0% ° I ERREE A BN
mErakE BT IERES LIRS EELEM
MEREE - Bt - WEZBRSEHFEHT
FEE) - BHEBHDREEIE -
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

15. Impairment Testing of Goodwill and 15. BRI ERNEERER I F
Trademarks With Indefinite Useful Lives AEHEENRERNR @
Relating to Milk Powder Products (continuea)

The sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used in M EFREBERANTIERRSOET
the calculation of value in use, taken individually, gives the S RE DT Z &R -

following results:

The amount of
recoverable amount
of the milk powder
product CGU over/

Reasonably (below) its carrying

possible change amount

MNERBSES

B A e SR

s, (ER)

SRR BEEE) HIFEESE

RMB’000

ARETTT

Revenue growth rate g AL £ & Decrease 2% (192,743)
W2%

Increase 2% 1,343,523
#AN2%

Perpetual growth rate RiRiERX Decrease 1% (516,480)
1%

Increase 1% 2,076,740
1%

Gross margin rate FEF= Decrease 1% (312,612)
1%

Increase 1% 1,507,629
12 901%

Discount rate PR =R Decrease 1% 2,515,580
WA1%

Increase 1% (843,949)

HAN1%
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16. Other Financial Assets 16. Hit e @EE
Unaudited Audited
RIBEZ KBz
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—EB—XKE —E—NF
AE=1H e al=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT 5T ARET T AREFT
At fair value through other DARBEFEEEEE
comprehensive income: SFAEMEERE :
Hong Kong listed equity investments & A R4 M EH EH
in YuanShengTai AT E (@) 64,784 89,484
Hong Kong listed equity investments & A FF B EE ) &S
in China Shengmu AR E (b) 371,340 413,740
436,124 503,224
At fair value through profit DAREFEEEHESSH
or loss: FFABE
Unlisted equity investments FEETRARE 42,012 42,012
Short term unit trust investments FREBAEFEIRE (©) 20,000 70,000
Long term unit trust due within one A —F N2> K
year BAEFRE (© - 100,000
Short term investment deposits RERERFH () 6,831,539 5,049,039
6,893,551 5,261,051
At amortised cost: REHRA :
Long term entrusted loans REAZTER () 119,115 120,736
Long term entrusted loans due R—F ARz &K
within one year ZEER (e) 51,375 36,234
Long term receivables RHE W FRIE (f 147,926 53,149
Long term time deposits RHEHTR (@/19 1,365,178 1,608,795
1,683,594 1,818,914
Total other financial assets HEMErEERTE 9,013,269 7,583,189
Current ) 6,902,914 5,255,273
Non-current FRE 2,110,355 2,327,916
9,013,269 7,583,189




TRERFAXERAA

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. Other Financial Assets (ontinueq)
Notes:

(@)

On 25 November 2013, the Company acquired 172,275,000
shares, representing a 4.41% equity interest, of
YuanShengTai Dairy Farm Limited, a Hong Kong listed dairy
company, at approximately HK$469,831,000 (equivalent
to RMB369,396,000). Management designated the equity
investment as a financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income upon initial application of IFRS 9 (2009)
on 1 January 2014, as management considered it a strategic
investment for the purpose of securing high quality raw milk
in the long run. The fair value of the listed equity securities is
determined by reference to published quotations. A decrease
in fair value for the six months ended 30 June 2016 and an
accumulated decrease in fair value as at 30 June 2016 with
amounts of RMB24,700,000 (six months ended 30 June 2015:
RMB29,000) and RMB304,612,000 (as at 30 June 2015:
RMB266,139,000), respectively, had been recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On 25 May 2011, the Company acquired a 5.81% equity
interest in an unlisted dairy company with approximately
HK$125,322,000 (equivalent to RMB98,531,000). Management
designated the equity investment as a financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income upon initial application of
IFRS 9 (2009) on 1 January 2014, as management considered
it a strategic investment for the purpose of securing high quality
raw milk in the long run. The equity interest in the unlisted dairy
company was subsequently converted into 269,865,600 shares
of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (“China Shengmu”),
which is the listing vehicle of the unlisted dairy company, upon
China Shengmu'’s initial public offering on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15 July 2014,
representing a 4.25% equity interest in China Shengmu. The fair
value of the listed equity interest is determined by reference to
public quotations. An decrease in fair value for the six months
ended 30 June 2016 and an accumulated increase in fair value as
at 30 June 2016 with amounts of RMB42,400,000 (six months
ended 30 June 2015: RMB91,334,000) and RMB272,809,000
(as at 30 June 2015: RMB327,123,000), respectively, had been
recognised in other comprehensive income.

—T NS

AR S S IR AR

16. Htt €M EE )
B3 -

(@)

ZE-Z=5+—-A=Zt+tFHAXQA
IA471469,831,000/8 7T (HERARK
369,396,0007t) -« WE—MEBS LEHILE
NERERRKERBRATIA172,275,0008%
&5 - (hH4.41%PHE - RZT—HF—A
—HERERERMBEHREENENE (=ZF

ThE) & EREMRERARERER
AR EFEREEHHALMEEK RN

TREE  WIHRNEEERAEBN 8
RESIE  EEMREERDHREMEMRE -
ZELTRABLENAABINELER A
REBFE -BE_ZT—AENA=THIEAN
A RRERD AREKE24,700,0007T (&
E-T-—RAFENA=ZTHILANEAR : ARKE
29,000L) MR=ZF—A~EA~A=Z+HA
REZEFR D ARKES304,612,0007T (R=
T-REAA=1+H: AR266,139,000
J0)  EREMEERESTER o

R-ZZBE——FRA-+HAH A&EH
LA#9125,322,0008 7 (HERARE
98,531,0007t) WHE—MIELMILERRN
5.81%8HkE - R-E—mE—H— B &0 JE
BB EERNEIR (ZBTHE)
B BEEEBXERAEEREBARNAE
AEREEZFHFAHMEERENERE
E WIHAREEERAEBN —HERKIE
B BSERFRELARNNREMLE - NFEHE
EHERNEERAR ( [REEK] )
(EAFELHAEAFTNLEHTTA) R=F
—MFEtA+RABEREBHAERIMERA
RIERBEXAMBEER  ZBIFELMIAER
TR A E 1% EE i A B BB H9269,865,600
MRAZD - (P BEIEE 4. 25% R HE © %%
BHENDARBENE2ERRREMEBET © &
2T RNFANA=ZFTHIEANERRAER
b AR¥E42 400,000 (BRE=E—FHEN
A=+H1E<EA : AR¥91,334,0007T)
ER-_ZE—XNEXNA=THAAEREEM
AR#272,809,0007T (R-—FE—RERXA
=408 : AR¥327,123,0007T) ' BRE
b2 E IR ZETER ©
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16. Other Financial Assets (continueq)
Notes: (continued)

()

The Group from time to time purchases various unit trust
investments for treasury management purpose. As at 30 June
2016, the Group held unit trusts at cost of RMB20,000,000 (31
December 2015: RMB170,000,000), with no guaranteed return
amount.

Included in the above balances, an amount of RMB20,000,000
(831 December 2015: RMB170,000,000) was invested in
trust units set up and managed by an affiliate of a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

The Group from time to time purchases various investment
deposits from commercial banks for treasury management
purpose. As at 30 June 2016, the Group held investment
deposits of RMB6,731,539,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB4,749,039,000) with guaranteed return and investment
deposits of RMB100,000,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB300,000,000) with no guaranteed return.

As at 30 June 2016, investment deposits amounting to
RMB100,000,000 (31 December 2015: RMB100,000,000) were
pledged for the Group’s issuance of letters of credit and to
secure interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (note 22).

Entrusted loans mainly represent the Group’s loans to certain
dairy farmers via banks. The above entrusted loans are
unsecured, with annual interest rates ranging from 4.75% to
6.90% (31 December 2015: 4.75% to 6.90%). As at 30 June
2016, these entrusted loans were neither past due nor impaired
and had no recent history of default.

Long term receivables represent the receivables arising from
disposal of certain property, plant and equipment to independent
third parties. As at 30 June 2016, those long term receivables
were neither past due nor impaired.

The effective interest rates on long term time deposits as at 30
June 2016 varied from 4.55% to 5.60% (31 December 2015:
4.25% to 5.60%) per annum and would mature in two to five
years.

16. EtbE@MEE @)

BeE - (8D

()

FEBTRREREEENBASRBMNRE
FERE - RZE-RNFRNA=TH  £&H
PARK AR A R #520,000,0007T 15 B 1 AR TE
BeBWWEMERRE (ZT—1F+-A
=+—H : AR#¥170,000,0007T) -

s - Hep AR¥20,000,000
T (ZE—AFE+-A=+—08: AR¥
170,000,0007T) MFIEEIRERBHADF
FTERRNBBEARARILEENELE
fiL o

AEEBTRAEKEEEMNRMmERITE
AZBEEEER R-_TE—XNEXNA=T
H  A&BEHE A ARY6,731,539,000
T(ZE—AF+_A=+—0: AR
4,749,039,000 7T ) R B R BRI MM K &
T KA ARE100,000,000 5T
—ZE-AF+-A=1t—H: AR¥
300,000,0007T ) N a&IRE B FRAIIE ETF K ©

RZE—XNERNA=1TH AHARK
100,000,000t (= E—AF+=-_A=+—
H : AR®100,000,0007T) B EFRE K
WUAAREERENERABEERERUES
FTEIRTT R EMEE (3F22) ©

ZAEREEEASERBRITASETHAE
REMNER - LEZTERBEIEHE - F75
RN F475%FE6.90%( —T—HFE+ A
=+—H8 :475%%6.90%) - R-_ZT—NF
NAZHH  ZERTERE AR I ER
B+ A EINEIE R R -

RHEMFEERBEETYE  BEER
BIBLE=TMELNEKRFIE R _-F
—RNFERNA=ZTH - ZERPEETIRL &
BT ERE -

RZZE—XRENA=1TH RYETHEZN
BERFEFENT455%25.60%(—F—HF
+-A=+—H : 4.25%%5.60%) * &R
MERFRZIE -
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

17. Inventories 17. &

Unaudited Audited
REER KEZ
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—E-RE —E—RF
AA=1H s Ea=]
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARKETTT

Raw materials FRFT#L 2,545,795 3,464,868

Finished goods EERK 922,720 874,638

Total inventories at the lower of cost RN B A] B BFE R BIE

and net realisable value HiHEMTRAH 3,468,515 4,339,506
18. Trade and Bills Receivables 18. EWWEBRF R EE

The Group normally allows a credit limit to its customers which AREBBEEIFEPETEEREE W&
is adjustable in certain circumstances. The Group closely TS T ETHAE - AEBRZY)E S8 H
monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned and KIEBLE o B AT & AN £ B ) FE UL
the fact that the Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a ERLREERTVEAETNRENNEEEEHE
large number of diversified customers, there is no significant W EER EEERRRE -

concentration of credit risk.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables of the NEE KB REEBENEIWER R EEIR
Group, net of provision for doubtful debts, based on the TR HAMEE R ST T ¢

invoice date, is as follows:

Unaudited Audited
RIBEZ REZ
30 June 31 December

2016 2015
—E—RE TR
AA=1H s =

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYET T ARKETTT

Within 3 months 31E A AR 2,549,477 1,389,573
4 to 6 months 4% 6{E A 269,008 94,581
7 to 12 months 7E2121E A 49,548 50,881
Over 1 year 1FM £ 61,572 82,722

2,929,605 1,617,757
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19. Cash and Bank Balances and Other

19. RERBTEFREMER

Deposits
Unaudited Audited
RISEX BNz
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—E—XF —E—RhF
AA=1TH |l a=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in NN SRR S o
the interim condensed consolidated mMERNERE® X
statement of cash flows INEEEY 3,533,518 6,833,608
Pledged deposits REBEESTH 747,809 722,402
Restricted deposits Z PR HAF = 40,229
Time deposits JEHITF K 3,038,541 2,666,195
7,319,868 10,262,434
Less: Short term pledged deposits for B RITRME CRRES
banking facilities (note 20 and note 22) FR(MsE20 K KizE22) (747,809) (722,402)
Less: Long term time deposits (note 16) & : REAEHFR(FIE16) (1,365,178) (1,608,795)
Cash and bank balances as stated in FI) A A B BRAR & BT 75
the interim condensed consolidated RREXBIBE &
statement of financial position RITHEAT 5,206,881 7,931,237

Note:

The Group’s pledged deposits were for the following bank facilities:

MEE

REEWDEIRFHTIFHIA TRITREPEL

Unaudited Audited

RISEX KEZ

30 June 31 December

2016 2015

—E—RE —ET—hF

ANA=+H +=-A=+—8

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBETT

Pledged to secure bills payable (note 20) IR DARETS FE A 24 (B9 3E20) 109,080 107,089
Pledged to secure interest-bearing I AES T BIRITR

bank and other borrowings (note 22) HafEE (MiE22) 615,578 522,538

Pledged to secure letter of credit BIRABESBERFE 23,151 92,775

747,809 722,402
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. Trade and Bills Payables

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

AR S S IR AR

20. BRI R EE
REBEMEREEFRIEREABNER
ST :

Unaudited Audited
RBER KEZ
30 June 31 December

2016 2015
—EB-—RF —E—hF
AA=1H =

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKETTT

Within 3 months 31E A LAR 5,210,575 4,005,836
4 to 6 months 4% 6fE A 500,291 602,214
7 to 12 months 721218 A 58,114 29,781
Over 1 year 1F E 10,887 6,467

5,779,867 4,644,298

The Group’s trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-
bearing and payable on demand.

Except for an aggregate balance of approximately
RMB280,498,000 (31 December 2015: RMB325,446,000)
secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s deposits
amounting to approximately RMB109,080,000 (31 December
2015: RMB107,089,000) (note 19), the bills payable are
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and payable when due
ranging from 3 to 6 months.

AKE N ERAREN RS 8 RAKE
SKBEREE -

MAFHH AR 280,498,000 T( —E—H4F
+=—A=+—H: AR#¥325,446,0007T )
NENZEESRTIUAEBRARNOARE
109,080,000 (= E—HFE+ - A=+—
H : AR®107,089,0007T) By & T 17 2 (M
FE19) RIS - M BN 2k A &K
Rt B R BNIE6(E A B ERFEE -



» China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2016

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

21. Other Payables and Accruals 21. HitENRIERFERER
Unaudited Audited
RBER KEZ

30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—E—XEF —T—hF
ANE=1H el at=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT

Advances from customers BEFER R 704,168 1,106,731
Salary and welfare payables FEN 4 RN & 627,259 653,617
Other payables Hofth fE AT RRIA 3,458,021 3,229,176
4,789,448 4,989,524

The Group’s other payables are non-interest-bearing and AEBMWEMBENRIALS B REREKEE

payable on demand. REE -
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AR S S IR AR

22. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other 2. ;tERITREMEES
Borrowings
Unaudited Audited
REER EZ
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
A —T—hHF
~A=+0 (RN
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT
Current: BNER
Short term bank loans, secured EHISRTTE - AHEM 612,185 501,696
Short term bank loans, unsecured REHIIRTTE R - I 4,422,860 5,547,321
Current portion of long term bank loans, RAPRITEFENEEE
secured — B 25,000 19,000
Current portion of long term bank loans,  RHI$RITEXKENEAEH
unsecured — 4L 1,343,848 12,734
6,403,893 6,080,751
Non-current: FEBNER :
Long term bank loans, secured RESRITER - BHEH 50,000 60,000
Long term bank loans, unsecured REISRITER - |ER 422,797 1,686,285
US$500,000,000 3.5% bonds RZT—=FFTZ
issued in 2013 500,000,000 7T 5
BE35%EH 3,295,708 3,223,276
3,768,505 4,969,511

10,172,398 11,050,262
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22, Interest-Bearing Bank and Other
Borrowings (continueq)

2.5 ERITREMEESE @

Notes: F5E -

(@) As at 30 June 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Group’s (8 RZFE—R"ENA=+HRZZT—HF+=
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were secured as A=+—8 AEBEZHERITREMEE
follows: EHRERWAT :

Unaudited Audited

RBER KEZ

30 June 31 December

2016 2015

—REF —E—h%F

AH=1+A +=ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBFT

Secured by pledged deposits AR B2 17 2K I8 580,082 461,696

Secured by investment deposits LA B A 7,103 -
Secured by land use rights and property, — LATHbf@ L RYE - S

plant and equipment KR EER 100,000 119,000

Unsecured AR 9,485,213 10,469,566

10,172,398 11,050,262

(b)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and (b) AEBELATHEEENGTERRIT MEME
other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies: EREmENT -

Unaudited Audited

RIBER KEZ

30 June 31 December

2016 2015

—RE —E—RF

NA=+H +=A=+—8H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

Hong Kong dollars BT 36,325 901,452
United States dollars E 5,824,353 6,897,340
Euro BT 33,419 28,934
RMB AR 4,278,301 3,222,536
10,172,398 11,050,262
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AR S S IR AR

23. Derivative Financial Instruments 23. TS T A
Unaudited Audited
RBER REZ
30 June 2016 31 December 2015
—E-RE —E-TfE
ANA=TH +tZA=+—"H
Asset Liability Assets Liability
&E =i BE &
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETE ARETT BNGL:RN: S
Forward currency contracts RHINE A 4T (@)/5 - - 5,011 -
Interest rate forward contracts ~ F|&ERHIE 4 (@)/7 - 4,752 - 3,160
Commodity futures contracts ~ EmEIEA 4 (b) - - 5,933 -
- 4,752 10,944 3,160

Notes: FiEE -

(@ The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts (@) f%@EETI%E&ZH@M\MEZ’]%TU%%H\E
and interest rate forward contracts to manage its exchange rate = @1’* = E%%@%ﬁ?\%iﬁﬂ—e@l@ﬁi f\ﬁfi':fi@
and floating interest rate exposures. These forward contracts are li,q & # g#ja Etﬁfﬂjﬁﬁ & RASEE
not designated for hedging purposes and are measured at fair £ BHB AR -
value through profit or loss.

(b) REBRRKBERERIERRME(HIINERER

To manage its price exposure to future purchase of commodities
as raw materials, such as white sugar and palm oil, the Group
entered into various commodity futures contracts. The Group
accounted for these commodity futures contracts at fair value
with changes recognised in profit or loss. During the six months
ended 30 June 2016, a net fair value loss of RMB2,584,000 (six
months ended 30 June 2015: net fair value gain of RMB35,000)
was charged to cost of sales (note 6).

) M EERR - RSB % IEE M
BEAH - AEERBEEERBESNELAR
B3R - MARENZERINIBERATER
HE_Z—ARENA=ZTHILEAEA 2%
BEFEEFBEARK258400T(HE -F
—RAFENAZTRHIEANEA  RRERSF
% A R35,0007T ) B 7 $8 & A AN AR H 5 (B
#6) °
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24. HitERBEMEE

24. Other Non-Current Financial Liabilities

Unaudited Audited

REEEZ KBz

30 June 31 December

2016 2015

—E—REF —E—RF

AE=1H el al=

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BT 5T AR®T T AREFT

Present value of considerations EEEEBEMH2E

arising from business combinations ~ R—FE SN ZHKE

to be paid beyond one year HE (@) - 9,451
Present value of redemption amounts A U HE R0 & FEIE AR
for potential acquisition of puttable Rz EE 4 58

non-controlling interests RE (o)/(c) 3,007,943 2,634,485

3,007,943 2,643,936

Notes: I3 -

(a) As at 31 December 2015, the fair value of the considerations @ RZTE—AF+ZA=+—8  BAEEK
with the principal amount of RMB10,000,000 to be paid beyond BASHBHRFARMAERET AR MA
one year arising from the Group’s acquisition of Oushi Mengniu R—FBI Nz AE 5 AR10,000,0007T
(Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd. at the acquisition date ZREVBEEBHAREENFERARE
was remeasured to RMB9,451,000. The amount had been 9,451,0007T - ®FEEREAEE -
settled during the period.

(o)  According to the equity purchase agreement entered into among () WBEAEER ARHMEBELBIAXBRAF

the Group, Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”)
and the non-controlling shareholders of Junlebao, the Group
granted a put option to the non-controlling shareholders
under which the non-controlling shareholders have the right
to sell, and the Group has an obligation to buy the 49% equity
interest in Junlebao after 2016. As at 30 June 2016, the Group
derecognised the carrying amount of non-controlling interests
of RMB531,911,000 (31 December 2015: RMB478,814,000)
and recognised the present value of the amount payable upon
exercise of the option of RMB965,838,000 (31 December 2015:
RMB683,147,000) as a financial liability and accounted for the
difference in equity.

(TBLE ) RELENIEIERBREII LM
BAEE S AEBAIEZERBRERER
SHEE B RO NFERIEERIRES
BEE RASEEEXEEELEL49%
BiE-R-_ZT—ARENA=Z+H KEH
RUEEREERREAREZNREAEBEBARE
531,911,000t (= E—RAF+=-A=+—
B : AR#478,814,0007T) R IZITHE R
B E T RIE R IR B A R % 965,838,000
T(ZZE—HAFE+_A=+—H:@ AR¥
683,147,00070 ) ER B BE - WiFEE
T AMERS ©
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. Other Non-Current Financial Liabilities
(continued)
Notes: (continued)

©)]

Under the equity joint venture contract entered into between
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”) and Danone Asia Pte Ltd. (“Danone”) dated
9 August 2013, an option was granted to Danone to terminate
the equity joint venture contract and sell the entire Danone’s
Stake to Inner Mongolia Mengniu at the exercise price within a
15-day period at the beginning of each biennial (2-year) period
from the seventh (7th) anniversary of the relevant closing date
under the amended and restated framework agreement, subject
to compliance with the then applicable laws and regulations
(including the Listing Rules) by the Company, including the
then relevant Listing Rules in connection with connected
transactions. As at 30 June 2016, the Group derecognised a
non-controlling interest of RMB591,665,000 (31 December
2015: RMB550,112,000) and recognised a fair value of
RMB2,042,105,000 (31 December 2015: RMB1,951,338,000)
payable upon exercise of the option as a financial liability and
accounted for the difference in equity.

AR S S IR AR

24. HERBSRME B @)

BieE - ()

©)]

BEASHRFAE(ER)RHERAA
(AR ])EiEgmMNERAR ([EEE])
RZZE—=FEN\ANRBFTUNEERLESL
B - EREER —TRRER  JELBIIRE
FIRERBEEBEIIB R E7)BRFRE -
BRQEZHRETARAARIEAEES
AR - WHEEEREZIIZITEESE TAR
54 BARQRMBESTE R EAED &
FR(BEEMRAOERTE  BEERLET
RABARBERZHRE - RZZT—RNEN
A=1+8 ' AEEKIERIEIERR TS
AR%591,665000L(—ZE—FHFE+ A
=+—08 : AR#550,112,0007T) K& FERI%
TEREEEEMNSBREBEAREARE
2,042,105,0007c( == E—RAFE+_A=+—
B : AR#1,951,338,0007T) @ I #% =585t
AR o
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25. Share Capital 25. R

Number of
ordinary
shares
EZEREE
Notes ’000 RMB’000
ihE=s T & AREFT
Issued and fully paid: EZTRHE -
At 1 January 2016 (Audited) RZE—RF—H—H
(EEZ) 3,923,977 357,262
Shares issued under equity-settled RIE PARKAD 2 A~ B9 BE R
share option arrangements LZHER 1T D (a) 1,615 138
Shares repurchased and cancelled  F& {7 [E] & 5144 (© (6,116) (523)
At 30 June 2016 (Unaudited) RZZE—R"FA=1+H
(REEEZ) 3,919,476 356,877
At 1 January 2015 (Audited) R-_E—FAF—H—H
(fE=%) 1,958,591 196,246
Shares issued under equity-settled TRIE DARRAD =2 1~ A BE R #E
share option arrangements ZHEE T D (a) 2,701 213
At 30 June 2015 (Unaudited) RZZE—hFA=1H
(REEEZ) 1,961,292 196,459
Notes: BIsE -

@

The 1,614,952 (six months ended 30 June 2015: 2,701,297)
share options exercised during the period resulted in the issue of
1,614,952 (six months ended 30 June 2015: 2,701,297) ordinary
shares of the Company and share capital of RMB138,000
(six months ended 30 June 2015: RMB213,000) and share
premium of RMB16,494,000 (six months ended 30 June 2015:
RMB50,758,000). The weighted average share price at the date
of exercise for these options was HK$12.67 (six months ended
30 June 2015: HK$38.87 (before bonus issue)) per share.

On 30 October 2015, an aggregate of 1,961,292,388 bonus
shares were issued by the Company on the basis of one share
for every one existing share held as of 19 October 2015.

During the period, an aggregate of 6,116,000 shares were
repurchased and cancelled by the Company, resulting in the
decrease in share capital of RMB523,000 and share premium of
RMB57,619,000.

(a)

HINA $£1,614,95213 (BE=Z—RF~A
=+HIERNEA - 2,701,2971)) EERGRERETT
i EHBHITANG,614,9528% (HE—
E—REXNA=FTHILXMER 2,701,297
f%) ELBRKERAARK138,0000 (BE
—E—RAFXNAZTHLERNEAR: AR
213,0007t) KA&D@E ARE16,494,000
T (BE-_ZT—RAFANA=ZTHIAEA :
AR¥50,758,0007T) ° ZEBRENITE
HZ IEFHREAERI12.678T (BE=
E-FENA=ZTHIEANEA - §38.878
JC (AIRXEE7TRT) ) ©

R-Z—RF+A=1+H ' ARRER=-Z
—hAF+ATNBEHRE —RABRGET
—RRARD M LR 1T A $£1,961,202,388/% AT
g o

B - AR AR K iEA $£6,116,0008% %
B EHRAF D ARES23,0005T & &5
S ER A A R#57,619,0007T °
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26. Other Reserves
(@)

During October 2014, Yashili, China Mengniu International
Company Limited (“Mengniu International”) and Danone
Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd. (“Danone Asia”) entered
into a subscription agreement pursuant to which, among
other things, Danone Asia has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for and Yashili has conditionally agreed
to allot and issue 1,186,390,074 subscription shares
(representing approximately 25% of the entire issued
share capital of Yashili as enlarged by the allotment)
at the subscription price of HK$3.70 per subscription
share. On 12 February 2015, the conditions precedent
of the subscription agreement were fulfilled and the
allotment had completed. As a result, the interest of the
Company in Yashili (through its shareholding interest in
Mengniu International) was diluted from approximately
68.02% to approximately 51.01% without loss of control.
The deemed disposal was accounted for as an equity
transaction, and as a consequence the difference of
RMB961,804,000 between the amount by which the non-
controlling interest was adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration received was recognised directly in equity as
areserve.

On 31 December 2014, China Dairy (Mauritius) Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into an equity interest transfer agreement to acquire an
approximately 6.6862% equity interest in Inner Mongolia
Mengniu from sellers at an aggregate consideration of
approximately RMB2,505,732,000 in form of cash within
10 business days of the obtaining of the approval of the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. On 26 January 2015,
the transaction was completed and the interest of the
Company in Inner Mongolia Mengniu was increased to
approximately 99.9775%. This acquisition was accounted
for as an equity transaction, and as a consequence
the difference of RMB1,890,606,000, representing the
amount of the fair value of the consideration over the
amount by which the non-controlling interest adjusted,
was charged directly in equity.

(@)

AR S S IR AR

6. Htbf#E

RZZE—WE+AH - ELF - FEERS
B AR AR ([ SR4BEE ) &Danone
Asia Baby Nutrition Pte. Ltd.([Z5E
/J||J>m R - B (AR BeE)E
MB G R B R R B &
H @E?"&E‘é?ﬂ,186,390,074H§5uu%
Rt (A& Z<<<HE§§%J%7H§:E’M&1%IJ
B BITRAL25%)  REEAER
RIBRMI.70BTT - RZE—HF_A
+=H - REWRZITRIEEERK
BEEEDTENK - #t - AR (ERAE
REFEERIREE) TR =R
#968.02% 85 = 4951.01% - 'Iﬁj’r,ﬁ\é&
KGR - ZRE LS ARER
Mt - KPR IEE Hxﬁéﬁﬁéﬁieuﬁzwﬁz
NABEZZEZ5EAREEI61,804,0007TE
BENERERAHE

RZE—ME+-_A=+—H &R
A) & & T A 7] China Dairy (Mauritius)
Limited?] Z R B i 3% - R ES
WEE NS SR 496.6862% M4 » IR &K
Ee XN A ARY?2505,732,0007T
ERARERENESG R R K83 &
10EEEBRIZN - RZFE—RF—
A=Z+7"B  XFIEK  AREKRA
RGN ZE499.9775% - B
BB ARERS - - AR
1,890,606,0007t 7 =& (BREM AR
BERLIETHRERECAZEENSTE)E
HERERSTNE -
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27. Share Award Scheme

Particulars and movements of share award scheme:

27.

ﬁﬁﬁ@%%
MR S hE )1

2016
Granted Vested
during during As at
Fair value per share 1 January  the period  the period 30 June
BRAME R-A-H MR HhEE WAR=1H
Notes (HKS) (HKS)
Date of grant REAH (73 (%7) (#7x)
Before After
bonus issue  bonus issue
BITARA  ROARE
26 April 2013 ZE-=FE@AZTH 21.65 10.83 9,345,600 - - 9,345,600
2 April 2015 —E-IEMAZH 40.10 20.05 3,738,210 - - 3,738,210
11 April 2016 “E-AERAT-H (@) 1242 - 14,492,753 - 14,492,753
2015 —E—FE
Granted Vested
Fair value As at during during As at
per share 1 January the period the period 30 June
SRR R-A-H BRRH BnEE RAAZTH
(HK$)
Date of grant i) (%)
26 April 2013 ZE-=#MA=+RA 21.65 7,409,800 - (1,228,000 6,181,800
17 April 2014 “Z-NERATLA 40.95 6,055,000 = (6,055,000) =
2 April 2015 “B2-nEMAZA 4010 - 8725000 - 8725000
Note: BifeE
(@ On 11 April 2016, the Company further granted 14,492,753 @ R= i_i\im T—B  ARFREBRE
shares under share award scheme to the participants, R 5F BE — 2 A 2 1 3E % 114,492,753
representing approximately 0.37% of the issued share capital R fi o - {52}&@ @F\\%iﬁq BHzEE TTHXZX
of the Company as at the Adoption Date. These granted shares #90.37% - R ERHABRMDAEEHN=F — X
would vest in two tranches each on 31 December 2016 and FR_T—tE+_A=t+—HIMARE
2017 in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the BEET(BER2EENKBER)EE fﬁ
Participants’ performance targets), subject to the Participants’ ART2EENIRBEZT— TR
performance results for the financial years ending 31 December —tF+ - A=t—RLEMBF ga’ﬁeiﬁ%
2016 and 2017, respectively. BMIE °

The fair value of the shares granted was calculated based on
the market prices of the Company’s shares at the respective
grant dates. No dividend will be considered. The Group
recognised an expense relating to the share award scheme
of approximately RMB50,546,000 (six months ended 30
June 2015: RMB138,038,000) into the interim condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the period.

EREBHD 2 ARE - THEREAA R R
EREBHZTETE  ERBITEHR
H“E o HAY - $$@E Ah BRES BR 4R A 1B

wmRFB o ER “/\ﬁlﬁbﬁ%ﬂfiﬁm/\ﬁﬁz
50,546,000%(@5:2—5&/—\)% =t+H1t
NAAR : AR¥138,038,0007T) °
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28. £S5 H
RZFE—A"FREA=+—H A£EM
Danone Asia Pacific Holdings Pte Ltd.
([Danone N W IEZ X HB N TR BBR AR
(IZE%FE])100%AHE - 2%+ B+
EREBLRUmENLED R I e =
RIHE - ETWEEERASEEERAHE A
b ) 82 4 52 L 75 40D B T 5 10 BE RO SRS 2

28. Business Combination

On 31 May 2016, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest
in Dumex Baby Food Co., Ltd. (“Dumex China”) from Danone
Asia Pacific Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“Danone”). Dumex China is
mainly engaged in the manufacture and sale of infant milk
formula products of Dumex brand. The acquisition was made
as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of
infant milk formula products in Mainland China.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Dumex
China as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

—=

REBEEBEH  ZXETPENARMNEE
MEBEOARENAT

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition

W 8 Py R 5

DRE
RMB’000
it AR®T R

Note

Assets BE

Property, plant and equipment I E Y 68,290
Construction in progress EETR 7,473
Land use rights 4 (5 A 41,527

Intangible assets mEE 283,120
Inventories FE 64,945
Trade and bills receivables MR AR i 63,887

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEfT3k - 12 & & H b E YK IE 14,116
Cash and bank balances RE MRITHER 112,071

Total assets WEE 655,429
Liabilities afE

Trade payables JERTBRFR (43,626)
Other payables and accruals HiEMNFIERIEREF (302,909)
Current tax payable EHENTIE (112)
Total liabilities wmats (346,647)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRAREYERZAIE#BIEE 308,782
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition e WEEEEE 14 718,476
Purchase consideration at fair value BRAREFEZWERE 1,027,258
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28. Business Combination ontinueq) 28. ¥ 56t
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Dumex China for the current period is as follows:

RAHWB L RLPENRESREANAT

RMB’000
AR¥T
Cash consideration HeRKE 1,099,695
Cash and cash equivalents acquired P iBIR & MRS EEY (112,071)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents PREKEFDEEANRSREANN
included in cash flows from investing ReEMREEEBYWF R
activities 987,624
Transaction costs of the acquisition BIEEKEEBEEANRESREAN
included in cash flows from operating U BE X SRR
5,510

activities

993,134




29.

30.

FEESTIAXFRAR —F

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S S IR AR

Contingent Liabilities 29. I REE

Aside from the disclosure in note 24, the Group had R sE24AFT B E SN - REBVNREEARAE
contingent liabilities not provided for in the interim condensed RHE RGBSR AZ RABENARAE
consolidated financial statements at the end of the reporting = INE

period as follows:

Unaudited Audited
REER KEZ
30 June 31 December

2016 2015
—E—ARE —E—RF
ARl —— A =+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT

Guarantees given to banks in connection  FtLA N A TERFLE M AR

with facilities granted to: TTIRBLIELR -

Third parties F=H - 14,000
Capital Commitments 30. EAXREE
The Group had the following outstanding capital commitments RBEHKR  A"EBEBEE NEEYE -
in respect of the purchase and construction of property, plant MR R EREAEENT -

and equipment as at the end of the reporting period:

Unaudited Audited
RBER REZ
30 June 31 December
2016 2015
—E-XEF —T—hF
ANA=1H apsa=]
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARKETTT

ERIKEREE

Contracted, but not provided for

1,083,043 797,598
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31. Related Party Transactions

1. BEBALRS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances which
are disclosed elsewhere in the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the
following significant transactions with its associates and

other related parties.

(a) BRRPHEARAMBEREBEIER
BHR P REHIN  NEBEEBER
AREMBABALETTIEARS

Unaudited
REBEX
For the six months ended 30 June
BEAA=1THIEAEA

2016 2015
—B-KE —E—RhF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE AR®T T AREFT
()  Sale of liquid milk products Bk & A Bl SHE IR BB
to associates = (i) 1,291,580 2,083,733
(I)  Sale of ice cream products B NGIE=E=—9 S1=7
to associates E (i) 22,495 32,340
(I Sale of other dairy products MBS AR SHE M
to associates FHE (i) 663 5,711
(IV) Sale of products to affiliates  [RIARAR]—ZFERE
of a major shareholder of R E A R NS E M
the Company (i) 5,466 =
(V) Purchase of raw materials MARF]—BEBERE
from affiliates of a major Mt E A REER
shareholder of the ok
Company (i) 120,145 98,828
(Vl) Purchase of raw materials BEEHYNEIE -5ty
from associates (i) 1,539,957 1,448,202
Note: Mgt -

()  The considerations were determined with reference to the
then prevailing market prices and the prices charged to
third parties.

() ERELSEEZRTSERREME=
TEERETE ©
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NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. Related Party Transactions (continueq)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group

AR S S IR AR

NN.BEBALIRZ @
(b) XEBEMNEEEIE A SR RN

Unaudited
RISER

For the six months ended 30 June
BEAA=THLAAEA

Directors’ fees
Salaries and allowances
Retirement benefit contributions

B0
e loERh
BRAAEFIHER

2016 2015
—E—RE —ZE-hE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARKETTT
880 865

4,919 5,624

367 322

Notes:

(i

(i)

(i)

The key management compensation represented
remuneration paid or payable to the directors and senior
executives of the Company.

In addition to the key management compensation shown in
above table, during the period from 2006 to 2011, certain
directors and senior executives were granted share options
in respect of their services to the Group under the share
option schemes of the Company. In accordance with IFRS
2, share-based payment benefits represent the fair value at
the grant date of the share options amortised to the interim
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss during
the period disregarding whether the options have been
vested/exercised or not. During the six months ended 30
June 2015, the share-based payments relating to the share
options granted to these directors and senior executives
were approximately RMB4,863,000.

In addition to the key management compensation shown
in above table, during the period from 2013 to 2016,
certain directors and senior executives were granted share
awards in respect of their services to the Group under the
share award scheme of the Company. In accordance with
IFRS 2, share-based payments represent the fair value
at the grant date of the shares amortised to the interim
condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss during
the period disregarding whether the shares have been
vested/exercised or not. During the period, the share-
based payments relating to the share awards granted to
these directors and senior executives were approximately
RMB26,655,000 (six months ended 30 June 2015:
RMB23,830,000).

i)y FEEBABNBRMIBEENHENTFAR
AREBEMHAITERAENBE -

(i) BRERFITEHZZEEASRMIN - R
“REREE_T—FHH ETE
ERRRITBRABRBEEE RNEEH R
TSR N RIAR IR A8 AR A 1 81 R ik
7 - RIFER RS E RIS 25E - A
B BER XN R IEEBENR L
HEOARE - AR HERES
BIRR AT AR - 5% SRR
REEHRB 11  HE-T—AFN
A=+BIENEASR  BEXT%ZE
EERBBRITHA BBERENARD B
R H S KA A R 4,863,0007T ©

(i) BRERFITMHEZEEEABRIMIN - R
R AFHN - ETE
ERSBRITERABRFESHAEBENR
TSN RIAR R AR S 42 Eh T 219 AR R
22E - RIEBEBR B SRS 2RI FE 25
LARR AR B EEhE A9 2 15 958 PR 1 1 AR 2 0 IR
HHBHNAAE AR MRS
AEERATUAEE  MTARZERE
RRERB17E - BN BEET%
EEERERITHABRZEENA AR
7 BEREF 4 A ARE26,655,000
T(EHE_Z—RFANA=1THILNE
A AR#23,830,0007T) °
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31. Related Party Transactions (continueq)
(c) As at 30 June 2016 and 31 December 2015, the
balances arising from related party transactions are as

(c)

NN.BEBALIRZ @

RZB-—RFERNA=THBRZZT—4LF
ToA=+—HB BBALRIELD

follows: EERRINR

Unaudited Audited
RICEZ KB
Trade and bills receivables from: 30 June 31 December
FEW T3S TR BR R R 2016 2015
—E—RE —E-hE
aY:=R =l - — F=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTT
Associates i /N 713,771 544,834

Affiliates of a major shareholder KRR —HEBRER
of the Company =SNG 3,667 1,223
717,438 546,057
Unaudited Audited
REER KEZ
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables from: 30 June 31 December
FEW TS & TR R -~ me R EAEUEER 2016 2015
—EB—RE —ET—RHF
ANA=1TH i ay=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Associates /NG| 182,252 37

ARAB—HEBIRIRH
BB ]

Affiliates of a major shareholder
of the Company

1,043 -

183,295 37
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31. Related Party Transactions ontinueq 1. BEBALIRZ @
(C) (continued) (C) (%&)

Unaudited Audited

RBEZX REZ

Trade and bills payables to: 30 June 31 December

FERT T35 77 R BR R R SR 4R 2016 2015

—E-XREF —E—hEF

AV:ER =l - —H=1—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARKETTT

Associates N 181,258 196,720
Affiliates of a major shareholder AAF—BEFTEREN

of the Company =N 58,611 31,945

239,869 228,665

Unaudited Audited

RICERK KEZ

Other payables and accruals to: 30 June 31 December

& T 5158 75 9 EoAth & A~ FRIE K 2016 2015

BRER : —E—REF —E—RF

AA=1H =

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

Associates i l/NC]| 11,770 20,789

The above balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing Lt aEEB LA E BB EHEL

and repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to

or by independent third parties.

TREBBILE=TTHEE -
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32. Financial Instruments by Category 32. ZEHESTHERMITE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR  SEL BRI ANEKREE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as /NN
follows:

As at 30 June 2016

Financial assets:

Fair value
Fair value through other
Amortised through comprehensive

cost  profit or loss income

BARETE BRASESE

BH®H HBHEBHFA
B A iTABRE  HttZEWNES gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTR ARBTTT ARET T

Trade and bills receivables RUER R EE 2,929,605 - - 2,929,605
Financial assets included in BERBAT BERk

prepayments, deposits and H At U FIAE)

other receivables TREE 834,038 - - 834,038
Equity investments RARE - 42,012 436,124 478,136
Unit trust investments B3R E - 20,000 - 20,000
Entrusted loans ZAER 170,490 - - 170,490
Long term receivables REREMGUR 147,926 - - 147,926
Investment deposits REGR - 6,831,539 - 6,831,539
Pledged deposits RESER 747,809 - - 747,809
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFLEEY 3,533,518 - - 3,533,518
Time deposits TEHER 3,038,541 - = 3,038,541

11,401,927 6,893,551 436,124 18,731,602
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As at 30 June 2016 (continued)

Financial liabilities:

32. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinueq

32. ZEHE TSR T A

R-ZBE—REXNA=1+TH®)

TREME

Amortised
cost

18 85 R AN
RMB’000
ARET T

Trade and bills payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings

Other loans

Derivative financial instruments

Long term payables

Other non-current financial
liabilities

FERBRAR R IR
BN E MR R &
BIREAZEMAE

AHRRITREMER

HAih &K
TTEERMIA
REEMIA
HibIER@craE

5,779,867

3,396,066

10,172,398
25,915

104,119

3,007,943

Fair value
through
profit or loss
BRAAREE
BHEZEH
FTAER
RMB’000
AR®T T

#et
RMB’000
AR®T T

5,779,867
3,396,066
10,172,398
25,915
4,752
104,119

3,007,943

22,486,308

22,491,060
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32. ZEHE TSR T A
R-—B—HEF+=-A=+—H

Financial assets: ERMEE

Fair value

Fair value  through other

Amortised through  comprehensive
cost profit or loss income Total

BANERE  RARGHE

BEZ® HBEZHEHA
BRI FABR  Et2EkE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT AREFT ARETT ARETTL
Trade and bills receivables EURERREE 1,617,757 - - 1,617,757

Financial assets included in BEABRT - RER
prepayments, deposits and other H b R

receivables SREE 591,654 - - 591,654
Equity investments B E - 42,012 503,224 545,236
Unit trust investments Bfifz5tRE - 170,000 - 170,000
Entrusted loans ZREN 156,970 - - 156,970
Derivative financial instruments fTHESBTA - 10,944 = 10,944
Investment deposits BERER = 5,049,039 = 5,049,039
Pledged deposits RESHER 722,402 = = 722,402
Long term receivables REEYGIE 53,149 = = 53,149
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 6,833,608 - - 6,333,608
Restricted deposits R HER 40,229 = = 40,229
Time deposits EHER 2,666,195 - - 2,666,195
12,681,964 5,271,995 503,224 18,457,183
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32. Financial Instruments by Category (ontinueq

As at 31 December 2015 (continued)

32. ZEHE TSR T A
R=—B-RE+=A=+—-H®@)

Financial liabilities: TRIEME:
Fair value
Amortised through
cost profit or loss Total
RARENE
BEZH)
BIEROR FFAER HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Trade and bills payables JERRR R R R IE 4,644,298 - 4,644,298
Financial liabilities included in  B¥ER E Al FE I 5RIE &
other payables and accruals  FEREFR /AR 3,158,554 = 3,158,554
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREMEER
other borrowings 11,050,262 - 11,050,262
Other loans HibE® 43,915 - 43,915
Derivative financial instruments 744 @8 T A = 3,160 3,160
Long term payables REIER B 139,021 - 139,021
Other non-current financial HEt3EnsiemasE
liabilities 2,643,936 - 2,643,936

21,679,986

21,683,146
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

Financial Instruments

Fair value

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the amount
at which the asset could be sold or the liability transferred in a
current transaction between market participants, other than in
a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current
portion of pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade
and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, current interest-bearing bank
loans and other loans, approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of other financial
assets, long-term time deposits, long term receivables, the
non-current portion of interest-bearing bank loans and long
term payables and other non-current financial liabilities have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties, principally established commodity
trading exchanges or financial institutions with good credit
ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including commodity
futures contracts, forward currency contracts and interest rate
forward contracts, are measured using quoted prices from
financial institutions with which the forward currency contracts
and interests rate forward contracts are entered into. The
carrying amounts of commodity futures contracts, forward
currency contracts and interest rate forward contracts are the
same as their fair values.

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R S SRR A

B.EMITAZAREBERAAERER

NRE
TRMEERABZARERMB2EELS
BETZX5(RAFTFEHERIN PRI
EEEXERARIEE

TXEIIRPNMEFH R A ERTEMRER

BekReEEY  RESTFROANHE
n o BRERRER  BAIERLRRE B
BRENR - BEREMREFANEBE
E BEREMEMNFKERARERNSH
B RBAERTEALREMERETA
AR EFREHAZIEm RS 2 REER

o

3o

HEMEENIERBE D  REUEHRF
R REBWHIE - sFRRTER KR
MNFIENFERDHEOUREMIERD SR E
B AR ETRBRUES - EERR &%
TR AT ARKAIESHNERITIRES
ARRERENTAFE -

LABRAEENAABIDERTISRE -

AEBMESEZHFHIILITESHTA - =
ERERINEMEDRIAAEEFRR
RS REE  BRHEAN  BHINES
HWEMEEMEHENTESRIA - T
BETVERERINESDORNREHREHD
MEREBNRENE AmPEAL &
HIIMES O RN EEMENNEREERKSE
MR EER -




33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of
Financial Instruments (continueq) ()

NOTES TO INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fair value (continued)

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in
the determination of fair values of investment deposits and
unit trust investments, which falls within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used
in the valuation.

RERFAXEERAR —ZE R FHhHERE

AR S S IR AR

B.EMTAZAREBERAAERER

D RAE@E
TRENEEREFRREMGEARELDR
EMAN{BERT(BRAABERNE=
&) RAEEPMANEATN B RE AR -

Significant

Valuation  unobservable Sensitivity of
technique input Range fair value to the input

BEXRRT WARE

HERT BRAARE g [E HARENTE
Investment Discounted cash  Expected yield 2.20% to 4.20% 10% (31 December 2015: 10%)
deposits flow method TaEiE R (31 December 2015: increase (decrease) in expected
KEGFR FRBLREE 2.00% t0 5.10%) yield would result in increase (decrease)
2.20%%4.20% in fair value by RMB7,959,000
(ZZ2—1F (31 December 2015: RMB5,168,000)

+=-A=+—81: T HRU s I A0 O 2) 10%

2.00%%5.10%) (ZZ—RF+ZA=1+—H :10%)
HEH R EEMORD) ARET?,959,0007C

(ZE-hF+-_A=+—H:

AR#5,168,0007T)
Discount rate 2.20% to 4.20% 10% (31 December 2015: 10%)
#IEE (31 December 2015: increase (decrease) in discount rate
2.00% to 5.10%) would result in decrease (increase)
2.20%%4.20% in fair value by RMB7,871,000
(ZT—hF (31 December 2015: RMBS5,107,000)

+=A=+—81: FrIREE MO )10%

2.00%%5.10%) (ZZ—RF+ZA=1+—H :10%)
HEB AR ERL (L) AR7,871,0007T

(Z2—RE+-A=+—H:

AR¥5,107,0007T)
Unit trust Discounted cash  Expected yield 10% 10% (31 December 2015: 10%)
investments flow method TAHME=X (31 December 2015: increase (decrease) in expected
B EFRE FTHRREREE 9.20% to 11.00%) yield would result in increase (decrease)
10% in fair value by RMB8,000
(ZZ2—A%F (31 December 2015: RMB209,000)

+-A=t—H: TE HRU s I A0 O ) 10%

9.20%%11.00%) (ZZ2—RF+A=+—H : 10%)

REH AR EEMORLD ) ARES,0007T

(ZE—RFTZA=+—H:

AR¥209,0007T)
Discount rate 10% 10% (31 December 2015: 10%)
#IRE (31 December 2015: increase (decrease) in discount rate

9.20% to 11.00%) would result in decrease (increase)

10% in fair value by RMB8,000
(ZZ—1F (31 December 2015: RMB209,000)
+=ZA=+—8: IR EIZ O 2)10%

9.20%%11.00%) (ZZ2—ARF+-A=+—H:10%)
B ER D (8 0) ARES,0007T

(ZF—HFtZA=+—H:
AER#209,0007T)
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of
Financial Instruments (continueq)
Fair value (continued)
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Financial assets StRER

Long term entrusted loans REZEER
Long term receivables R B fE Y RIE
Long term time deposits REAEHER

B EMIAZARERARERER
(&)
A fefE m)
AEEZ ST A(RREERDAEE B
BEZSBTAN ZEEERARENT ;

Carrying amounts Fair values

FREE DAfE

Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited
RIBEW mEZ RBEY LEZ
<IN 31 December <INITEN 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015

—E-RF —T-1F ZE-RE “Z-1F
V=R d=l+— A=+—H V==l — A =+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREF T AR®T T ARETT

119,115 120,736 118,872 122,501
147,926 53,149 142,749 47,669
1,365,178 1,608,795 1,355,402 1,688,706

1,632,219 1,782,680 1,617,023 1,758,875
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of B.2MIAZAARBERAABEER
Financial Instruments (continueq) ()
Fair value (continued) /L\\JL[\J{E.(?E)
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ARE

Unaudited Audited Unaudited Audited
RISEY KEZ REEER BE%
RVNINEM 31 December KVNNLEM 31 December

2016 2015 2016 2015
“2-RE “E-AHF B “E-AF
YRl — A =+—H AV ER=l+ — A =+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETFT ARETT ARETTT

Financial liabilities SHEE
Other non-current financial liabilities HinEmEsralE 3,007,943 2,643,936 3,007,943 2,643,936
Interest-bearing bank and other HERIREMEE
borrowings - non-current portion —ERBED 3,768,505 4,969,511 3,878,199 4,991,684
Long term payables REEMFIE 42,164 68,399 40,615 67,327
6,818,612 7,681,846 6,926,757 7,702,947
Fair value hierarchy NREER
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEERAATERAEERERSHITA
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments: BIAS(E
Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices FE—  BEHREZEXBERERTSH
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or WECREFARE)FTEANE
liabilities
Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques FIH: AREEABERINGTE - B2
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on HTHEM AR BEEATENG
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly AZBIER ] EERHEEEEGE
or indirectly
Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques F=F: AnEERGERITETE - BEMA
for which any inputs which have a significant HEREN AR EEERATENE
effect on the recorded fair value are not based on AR FEE R O] BB H) T 5 2

observable market data (unobservable inputs) & (GEr] B A S5 )
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

B.EMITAZAREBERAAERER

Financial Instruments (continueq) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DNARERBHK @)
Assets measured at fair value: BAAREBEIENEE :
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable Unaudited
markets inputs inputs 30 June
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2016
WEE BXT BEAFRA RBER
MENGE BERAZE BEGABE —Z-—KF
E— EMR E= ~A=1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR%®TR AR¥TR AR®T:
Hong Kong listed equity investments &8 E TR AR A 436,124 - - 436,124
Unlisted equity investments IEEFRARE - - 42,012 42,012
Unit trust investments BAETRE - - 20,000 20,000
Investment deposits REGH - - 6,831,539 6,831,539
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable Audited
markets inputs inputs 31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2015
RER Ep NG| Eval| mEZ
THNERE BREASE HERAZE _—T-IfF
£/ F_R F=H +—A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETE ARETR
Hong Kong listed equity investments &7 L iR A& & 503,224 - - 503,224
Unlisted equity investments FELEMBRAEZE - - 42,012 42,012
Unit trust investments BEERE - - 170,000 170,000
Investment deposits RERER - - 5,049,039 5,049,039
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTA 5,933 5,011 - 10,944
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of B.TMIEZAARBERAABEER
Financial Instruments (continueq) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AAEBHRE)
Liabilities measured at fair value: BARBEFENEE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable Unaudited
markets inputs inputs 30 June
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2016

RER BAY EATRT REEY
TENEE BEBABE BRBAEE -—F-1%F
-1 =R %= AA=tH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR ARETR AR®TR

Derivative financial instruments TEemIA - 4,752 - 4,752

Quoted
prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable Audited

markets inputs inputs 31 December

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2015

RIEE Ev NG| BART BERZ

MHENRE BEBAKE BRGARE _—T-1nfF

F— FH F=#% +-A=1+—H

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARMTE ARETT ARBTRL

Derivative financial instruments TEEMTA - 3,160 = 3,160
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of

B.EMITAZAREBERAAERER

Financial Instruments (continueq) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DNARERBHK @)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: EWREAAREZEE
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable Unaudited
markets inputs inputs 30 June
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2016
WEE BXT BEAFRA RBER
MENGE BERAZE BEGABE —Z-—KF
£-% ot E=HK ARB=1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR%®TR AR¥TR AR®T:
Long term entrusted loans REZTER - 118,872 - 118,872
Long term receivables REEURIA = 142,749 = 142,749
Long term time deposits RETHER - 1,355,402 - 1,355,402
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable Audited
markets inputs inputs 31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2015
RIER EvNGl| Eval| KEZ
THNERE BREASE BHERAZE _—T-IfF
F— F- £=H T-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETE ARETR
Long term entrusted loans RAEIZEER - 122,501 = 122,501
Long term receivables RAEBFEUMRIE = 47,669 = 47,669
Long term time deposits RAETEHRT X - 1,588,705 - 1,588,705
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33. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of B.2MIAZAARBERAABEER
Financial Instruments (continueq) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NAEBHR @)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EBREAARBEZAE

Quoted
prices
in active
markets
Level 1

Significant Significant
observable unobservable Unaudited
inputs inputs 30 June
Level 2 Level 3 2016
BXT BEAFRA ABEK
BEQAHE BERAZE —Z-—XF
BH E= AH=1+H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AR¥TR AR%Tx

RER
mENEE
-1
RMB’000
AR®ETR

Other non-current financial liabilities ~ EfIEREL/MEE - 3,007,943 - 3,007,943
Interest-bearing bank and other SERITREMES
borrowings - non-current portion —IEREN IR - 3,878,199 - 3,878,199
Long term payables REEMNFIE - 40,615 = 40,615
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable Audited
markets inputs inputs 31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2015
AR Ev NG| BEARH mEZ
MHNRE BEBARE BXAZE —Z-1nfF
F— EH E=H +t—A=1+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFTT ARETT ARETT
Other non-current financial liabilites  Z3EREI 2 REE = 2,643,936 = 2,643,936
Interest-bearing bank and other HEBTREMES
borrowings — non-current portion —IERENEL D = 4,991,684 = 4,991,684
Long term payables REAFE 508 = 67,327 = 67,327
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34. Approval of the Interim Financial 34. #t/ER AR Rk
Statements
The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial EEeRN - "FN\A-TUBAIER
statements were approved and authorised for issue by the FRET) B RIS A% P BRI B AR & I TS % -

board of directors on 24 August 2016.
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